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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this Quarterly Report), the terms “Oracle,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporation and its 
consolidated subsidiaries. This Quarterly Report contains statements that are not historical in nature, are predictive in nature, or that depend upon or refer to 
future events or conditions or otherwise contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the Exchange Act), and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act). These include, among other things, statements 
regarding:

• our expectation that we may acquire, and realize the anticipated benefits of acquiring, companies, products, services and technologies to further 
our corporate strategy as compelling opportunities become available;

• our expectation that, on a constant currency basis, our total cloud and software revenues generally will continue to increase due to expected 
growth in our cloud revenues and continued demand for our software offerings;

• our expectation that substantially all of our customers will renew their software support contracts upon expiration;

• our expectation that current and expected customer demand will require continued growth in our cloud and software expenses in order to increase 
our existing data center capacity and establish additional data centers in new geographic locations;

• our expectation that our hardware business will have lower operating margins as a percentage of revenues than our cloud and software business;

• our expectation that we will continue to make significant investments in research and development to develop new products and services offerings, 
as well as maintain and improve our current offerings, and our belief that research and development efforts are essential to maintaining our 
competitive position;

• our expectations regarding our investment in Ampere Computing Holdings LLC (Ampere) and the pending acquisition of Ampere by SoftBank Group 
Corp.;

• our expectation that our international operations will continue to provide a significant portion of our total revenues and expenses;

• our expectation that the proportion of our cloud revenues relative to our total revenues will continue to increase;

• the sufficiency of our sources of funding for working capital, capital expenditures, contractual obligations, acquisitions, dividends, stock 
repurchases, debt repayments and other matters;

• our belief that we have adequately provided under United States (U.S.) generally accepted accounting principles for outcomes related to our tax 
audits, that the final outcome of our tax-related examinations, agreements or judicial proceedings will not have a material effect on our results of 
operations and that our net deferred tax assets will likely be realized in the foreseeable future;

• our belief that the outcome of certain legal proceedings and claims to which we are a party will not, individually or in the aggregate, result in losses 
that are materially in excess of amounts already recognized, if any;

• the possibility that certain legal proceedings to which we are or may become a party could have a material impact on our financial position or 
results of operations;

• the timing and amount of expenses we expect to incur;

• the expenses we may incur and the cost savings we expect to realize pursuant to the Fiscal 2026 Oracle Restructuring Plan;
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• declarations and amounts of future cash dividend payments and the timing and amount of future stock repurchases;

• our expectations regarding the impact of recent accounting pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements;

• our ability to predict revenues, particularly certain software license revenues and hardware revenues, and margins;

• the percentages of remaining performance obligations that we expect to recognize as revenues over respective future periods;

as well as other statements regarding our future operations, financial condition and prospects, and business strategies. Forward-looking statements may be 
preceded by, followed by or include the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “commits,” “continues,” “could,” “endeavors,” “estimates,” “expects,” “focus,” 
“forecasts,” “future,” “goal,” “intends,” “is designed to,” “likely,” “maintains,” “may,” “ongoing,” “plans,” “possible,” “potential,” “projects,” “seeks,” “shall,” 
“should,” “strives,” “will” and similar expressions. We claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Exchange Act 
and the Securities Act for all forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about 
future events. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about our business that could affect our future results 
and could cause those results or other outcomes to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might 
cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in “Risk Factors” included in documents we file from time to time with 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), including our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 and our other 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed by us in our fiscal year 2026, which runs from June 1, 2025 to May 31, 2026.

We have no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or risks, except to 
the extent required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make 
additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements. New information, future events or risks could cause the forward-looking events 
we discuss in this Quarterly Report not to occur. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect our expectations 
only as of the date of this Quarterly Report.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025
(Unaudited)

 

(in millions, except per share data)  
August 31,

2025    
May 31,

2025  
ASSETS           

Current assets:           
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 10,445    $ 10,786 
Marketable securities     560      417 
Trade receivables, net of allowances for credit losses of $526 and $557 as of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025, 
respectively     8,843      8,558 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     4,786      4,818 

Total current assets     24,634      24,579 
Non-current assets:           

Property, plant and equipment, net     53,194      43,522 
Intangible assets, net     4,167      4,587 
Goodwill     62,211      62,207 
Deferred tax assets     11,734      11,877 
Other non-current assets     24,509      21,589 

Total non-current assets     155,815      143,782 
Total assets   $ 180,449    $ 168,361 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY           
Current liabilities:           

Notes payable and other borrowings, current   $ 9,079    $ 7,271 
Accounts payable     8,203      5,113 
Accrued compensation and related benefits     1,794      2,243 
Deferred revenues     12,098      9,387 
Other current liabilities     8,700      8,629 

Total current liabilities     39,874      32,643 
Non-current liabilities:           

Notes payable and other borrowings, non-current     82,236      85,297 
Income taxes payable     10,583      10,269 
Operating lease liabilities     14,094      11,536 
Other non-current liabilities     8,996      7,647 

Total non-current liabilities     115,909      114,749 
Commitments and contingencies           
Oracle Corporation stockholders’ equity:           

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: none     —      — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paid in capital—authorized: 11,000 shares; outstanding: 2,841 shares and 
2,807 shares as of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025, respectively     39,378      37,107 
Accumulated deficit     (14,054)     (15,481)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (1,170)     (1,175)

Total Oracle Corporation stockholders’ equity     24,154      20,451 
Noncontrolling interests     512      518 

Total stockholders’ equity     24,666      20,969 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 180,449    $ 168,361 

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Three Months Ended August 31, 2025 and 2024
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions, except per share data)   2025     2024  

Revenues:           
Cloud   $ 7,186    $ 5,623 
Software     5,721      5,766 
Hardware     670      655 
Services     1,349      1,263 

Total revenues     14,926      13,307 
Operating expenses:            

Cloud and software     3,607      2,597 
Hardware     178      162 
Services     1,099      1,147 
Sales and marketing     2,063      2,036 
Research and development     2,491      2,306 
General and administrative     376      358 
Amortization of intangible assets     420      624 
Acquisition related and other     13      13 
Restructuring     402      73 

Total operating expenses     10,649      9,316 
Operating income     4,277      3,991 
Interest expense     (923)     (842)
Non-operating income, net     73      20 
Income before income taxes     3,427      3,169 
Provision for income taxes     500      240 
Net income   $ 2,927    $ 2,929 

Earnings per share:            
Basic   $ 1.04    $ 1.06 

Diluted   $ 1.01    $ 1.03 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:            
Basic     2,826      2,761 

Diluted     2,909      2,851 
 

Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, which is shown separately.

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Three Months Ended August 31, 2025 and 2024
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Net income   $ 2,927    $ 2,929 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:            

Net foreign currency translation gains     28      220 
Net unrealized losses on cash flow hedges     (24)     (116)
Other, net     1      — 

Total other comprehensive income, net     5      104 
Comprehensive income   $ 2,932    $ 3,033 
 

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Three Months Ended August 31, 2025 and 2024
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions, except per share data)   2025     2024  

Common stock and additional paid in capital            
Balance, beginning of period   $ 37,107   $ 32,764 
Common stock issued     1,170      179 
Stock-based compensation     1,124      1,007 
Repurchases of common stock     (6)     (13)
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings upon vesting of restricted stock-based awards     (17)     (851)
Other, net     —      (3)
Balance, end of period   $ 39,378   $ 33,083 
Accumulated deficit            
Balance, beginning of period   $ (15,481)  $ (22,628)
Repurchases of common stock     (87)     (137)
Cash dividends declared     (1,413)     (1,103)
Net income     2,927      2,929 
Balance, end of period   $ (14,054)  $ (20,939)
Other stockholders’ equity, net            
Balance, beginning of period   $ (657)  $ (897)
Other comprehensive income, net     5      104 
Other, net     (6)     (82)
Balance, end of period   $ (658)  $ (875)
Total stockholders’ equity   $ 24,666   $ 11,269 
Cash dividends declared per common share   $ 0.50   $ 0.40 
 

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.



Table of Contents

 

7

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Three Months Ended August 31, 2025 and 2024
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Cash flows from operating activities:            
Net income   $ 2,927    $ 2,929 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:            

Depreciation     1,351      804 
Amortization of intangible assets     420      624 
Deferred income taxes     515      (151)
Stock-based compensation     1,124      1,007 
Other, net     164      130 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:            

Increase in trade receivables, net     (245)     (81)
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets     59      367 
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities     (334)     (531)
(Decrease) increase in income taxes payable     (391)     24 
Increase in deferred revenues     2,550      2,305 

Net cash provided by operating activities     8,140      7,427 
Cash flows from investing activities:            

Purchases of marketable securities and other investments     (471)     (477)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities and other investments     255      15 
Capital expenditures     (8,502)     (2,303)

Net cash used for investing activities     (8,718)     (2,765)
Cash flows from financing activities:            

Payments for repurchases of common stock     (95)     (150)
Proceeds from issuances of common stock     1,170      179 
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings upon vesting of restricted stock-based awards     (17)     (851)
Payments of dividends to stockholders     (1,413)     (1,103)
Repayments of commercial paper, net     (238)     (396)
Proceeds from issuances of term loan credit agreements     —      5,627 
Repayments of senior notes and other borrowings     (1,052)     (7,630)
Other financing activities, net     1,855      (261)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities     210      (4,585)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     27      85 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents     (341)     162 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     10,786      10,454 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 10,445    $ 10,616 

Non-cash investing activities:            
Unpaid capital expenditures  $ 4,010    $ 1,582 

 
 

 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31, 2025
(Unaudited)

 

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND OTHER

Basis of Presentation

We have prepared the condensed consolidated financial statements included herein pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. However, we believe that the disclosures herein are 
adequate to ensure the information presented is not misleading. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction 
with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025.

We believe that all necessary adjustments, which consisted only of normal recurring items, have been included in the accompanying financial statements to 
present fairly the results of the interim periods. The results of operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the operating 
results to be expected for any subsequent interim period or for the fiscal year ending May 31, 2026. We reclassed certain revenues and other related 
disclosures to conform to the current period’s presentation for all periods presented in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. Such 
reclassifications did not affect total revenue, income from operations or net income.

There have been no changes to our significant accounting policies as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 that 
had a significant impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements or notes thereto as of and for the three months ended August 31, 2025.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Restricted cash that was included within cash and cash equivalents as presented within our condensed consolidated balance sheets as of August 31, 2025 and 
May 31, 2025 and our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended August 31, 2025 and 2024 was immaterial.

Remaining Performance Obligations from Contracts with Customers

Trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, and deferred revenues are reported net of related uncollected deferred revenues in our condensed 
consolidated balance sheets as of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025. The revenues recognized during the three months ended August 31, 2025 and 2024 that 
were included in the opening deferred revenues balances as of May 31, 2025 and 2024 were approximately $4.0 billion and $3.9 billion, respectively. 
Revenues recognized from performance obligations satisfied in prior periods and impairment losses recognized on our receivables were immaterial in each of 
the three months ended August 31, 2025 and 2024.

Remaining performance obligations were $455.3 billion as of August 31, 2025, of which we expect to recognize approximately 10% as revenues over the next 
twelve months, 25% over the subsequent month 13 to month 36, 34% over the subsequent month 37 to month 60 and the remainder thereafter. We have 
elected the optional exemption to not disclose the variable consideration for contracts in which the variable consideration expected to be received over the 
duration of the contract is allocated entirely to the wholly unsatisfied performance obligations. Refer to Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 for more information about our remaining performance obligations.

Sales of Financing Receivables

We offer certain of our customers the option to acquire certain of our products and services offerings through separate long-term payment contracts. We 
generally sell these contracts that we have financed for our customers on a non-recourse basis to financial institutions within 90 days of the contracts’ dates 
of execution. We record the 
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transfers of amounts due from customers to financial institutions as sales of financing receivables because we are considered to have surrendered control of 
these financing receivables. Financing receivables sold to financial institutions were $756 million and $595 million for the three months ended August 31, 2025 
and 2024, respectively.

Non-Marketable Investments

As of each of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025, our non-marketable debt investments and equity securities and related instruments totaled $2.1 billion, and 
are included in other non-current assets in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets and are subject to periodic credit losses and impairment 
reviews. Certain of these non-marketable equity securities and related instruments are adjusted for observable price changes from orderly transactions. The 
majority of the non-marketable debt and equity investments held as of these dates were with Ampere Computing Holdings LLC (Ampere), an equity method 
investee in which we have an ownership interest of approximately 29% as of August 31, 2025. Our debt investments in Ampere are in the form of convertible 
debt which, under the terms of an agreement with Ampere and other co-investors, will mature in June 2026 and are convertible into equity securities at the 
holder’s option under certain circumstances. During the three months ended August 31, 2025, we invested an aggregate of $90 million in convertible debt 
instruments issued by Ampere. We follow the equity method of accounting for our investment in Ampere and our share of loss under the equity method of 
accounting is recorded in the non-operating income, net line item in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. The total carrying value of our 
investments in Ampere after accounting for losses under the equity method of accounting was $1.7 billion as of August 31, 2025. In accordance with the terms 
of an agreement with other co-investors, we are also a counterparty to certain put (exercisable by a co-investor) and call (exercisable by Oracle) options at 
prices of approximately $500 million to $1.5 billion, respectively, to acquire additional equity interests in Ampere from our co-investors through January 2027. 
On March 19, 2025, SoftBank Group Corp. announced that it had entered into an agreement with Ampere and its equity holders to acquire all of the equity 
interests of Ampere (the Ampere Acquisition). The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals. When the Ampere 
Acquisition closes, we will cease to be an investor in Ampere. During the period prior to the closing of the Ampere Acquisition, we will continue to recognize 
our share of loss in Ampere’s net earnings until the closure of the acquisition.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition related and other expenses primarily consist of personnel-related costs for transitional and certain other employees, certain business combination 
adjustments, including adjustments after the measurement period has ended, and certain other operating items, net.
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Transitional and other employee-related costs   $ —    $ 2 
Business combination adjustments, net     5      (5)
Other, net     8      16 

Total acquisition related and other expenses   $ 13    $ 13 

Non-Operating Income, net

Non-operating income, net consists primarily of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses, the noncontrolling interests in the net profits of our 
majority-owned subsidiaries (primarily Oracle Financial Services Software Limited and Oracle Corporation Japan), net losses related to marketable and non-
marketable investments, including losses attributable to equity method investments (primarily Ampere) and net other income and expenses, including net 
gains and losses from our investment portfolio related to our deferred compensation plan, for which 
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an equal and offsetting amount was recorded to our operating expenses during the same period, and non-service net periodic pension income and losses.
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Interest income   $ 103    $ 133 
Foreign currency losses, net     (31)     (50)
Noncontrolling interests in income     (47)     (43)
Losses from marketable and non-marketable investments, net     (52)     (69)
Other income, net     100      49 

Total non-operating income, net   $ 73    $ 20 
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Income Taxes: In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 
740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (ASU 2023-09), which enhances the disclosures required for income taxes in our annual consolidated financial 
statements. ASU 2023-09 is effective for us for our annual reporting for fiscal 2026 on a prospective basis. Both early adoption and retrospective application 
are permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of our pending adoption of ASU 2023-09 on our consolidated financial statements.

Income Statement: In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation 
Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses and also issued subsequent guidance clarifying the effective date of the initial 
guidance (collectively, Subtopic 220-40), which enhances the disclosures required for expense disaggregation in our annual and interim consolidated financial 
statements. This guidance is effective for us for our annual reporting for fiscal 2028 and for interim period reporting beginning in fiscal 2029 on a prospective 
basis. Both early adoption and retrospective application are permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of our pending adoption of Subtopic 220-40 on 
our consolidated financial statements.

2. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We perform fair value measurements in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value Measurement (ASC 820). ASC 820 
defines fair value as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at their fair values, we consider 
the principal or most advantageous market in which we would transact and consider assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the assets 
or liabilities, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions and risk of nonperformance.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when 
measuring fair value. An asset’s or a liability’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. ASC 820 establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

• Level 1:  quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2:  inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or 
liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; or
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• Level 3:  unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are defined above):
 

    August 31, 2025     May 31, 2025  

   
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types          
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types        
(in millions)   Level 1     Level 2     Total     Level 1     Level 2     Total  

Assets:                               
Money market funds   $ 2,965    $ —    $ 2,965    $ 2,220    $ —    $ 2,220 
Time deposits and other     86      656      742      59      526      585 
Derivative financial instruments     —      30      30      —      54      54 
Total assets   $ 3,051    $ 686    $ 3,737    $ 2,279    $ 580    $ 2,859 

Liabilities:                               
Derivative financial instruments   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 26    $ 26 

 

Our cash equivalents and marketable securities investments consist of money market funds, time deposits and marketable equity securities. Marketable 
securities as presented per our condensed consolidated balance sheets included debt securities with original maturities at the time of purchase greater than 
three months and the remainder of the debt securities were included in cash and cash equivalents. We classify our marketable debt securities as available-for-
sale debt securities at the time of purchase and reevaluate such classification as of each balance sheet date. As of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025, all of 
our marketable debt securities investments mature within one year. Our valuation techniques used to measure the fair values of our instruments that were 
classified as Level 1 in the table above were derived from quoted market prices and active markets for these instruments that exist. Our valuation techniques 
used to measure the fair values of Level 2 instruments listed in the table above were derived from the following: non-binding market consensus prices that 
were corroborated by observable market data, quoted market prices for similar instruments, or pricing models, such as discounted cash flow techniques, with 
all significant inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data including reference rate yield curves, among others.

Based on the trading prices of the $89.3 billion and $90.3 billion of senior notes and other long-term borrowings and the related fair value hedges, if any, that 
we had outstanding as of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025, respectively, the estimated fair values of the senior notes and other long-term borrowings and 
the related fair value hedges, if any, using Level 2 inputs at August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025 were $81.1 billion and $81.3 billion, respectively.

3. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES

Fiscal 2026 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During the first quarter of fiscal 2026, our management approved, committed to and initiated plans to restructure and further improve efficiencies in our 
operations due to our acquisitions and certain other operational activities (2026 Restructuring Plan). The total estimated restructuring costs associated with 
the 2026 Restructuring Plan are up to $1.6 billion and will be recorded to the restructuring expense line item within our condensed consolidated statements 
of operations as they are incurred through the end of the plan. We recorded $415 million of restructuring expenses in connection with the 2026 Restructuring 
Plan during the three months ended August 31, 2025. Any changes to the estimates of executing the 2026 Restructuring Plan will be reflected in our future 
results of operations.
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Summary of All Plans
 

    Accrued     Three Months Ended August 31, 2025     Accrued    
Total
Costs    

Total
Expected  

(in millions)  
May 31,
2025    

Initial
Costs    

Adj. to
Cost    

Cash
Payments     Others    

August 31,
2025    

Accrued
to Date    

Program
Costs  

2026 Restructuring Plan                                         
Cloud and software   $ —    $ 119   $ —   $ (13)  $ —   $ 106   $ 119   $ 484 
Hardware     —      16      —      (1)     —      15      16      67 
Services     —      36      —      (3)     —      33      36      326 
Other     —      244      —      (45)     —      199      244      737 

Total 2026 Restructuring Plan   $ —    $ 415    $ —    $ (62)   $ —    $ 353    $ 415    $ 1,614 
Total other restructuring plans   $ 212    $ —    $ (13)   $ (55)   $ 3    $ 147            
Total restructuring plans   $ 212    $ 415    $ (13)   $ (117)   $ 3    $ 500            

 

Restructuring costs recorded to each of the operating segments presented primarily related to employee severance costs. Other restructuring costs represented employee severance costs not related to 
our operating segments and certain other restructuring plan costs.
As of August 31, 2025, $427 million and $73 million were recorded in other current liabilities and other non-current liabilities, respectively, within our condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of May 
31, 2025, substantially all restructuring liabilities have been recorded in other current liabilities within our condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Costs recorded for the respective restructuring plans during the period presented.

All plan adjustments were changes in estimates whereby increases and decreases in costs were generally recorded to operating expenses in the period of adjustments.
Represents foreign currency translation and certain other non-cash adjustments.

Other restructuring plans presented in the table above included condensed information for other Oracle based plans and other plans associated with certain of our acquisitions whereby we continued to 
make cash outlays to settle obligations under these plans during the periods presented but for which the periodic impact to our condensed consolidated statements of operations was not significant.

4. DEFERRED REVENUES

Deferred revenues consisted of the following:
 

(in millions)  
August 31,

2025
    May 31,

2025
 

Cloud   $ 3,944    $ 2,959 
Software     7,062      5,350 
Hardware     584      614 
Services     508      464 

Deferred revenues, current     12,098      9,387 
Deferred revenues, non-current (in other non-current liabilities)     1,264      1,346 

Total deferred revenues   $ 13,362    $ 10,733 
 

Deferred cloud revenues, deferred software revenues and deferred hardware revenues substantially represent customer payments made in advance for cloud 
or support contracts that are typically billed in advance with corresponding revenues generally being recognized ratably or based upon customer usage over 
the respective contractual periods. Deferred services revenues include prepayments for our services business and revenues for these services are generally 
recognized as the services are performed.
 

(2) (3) (4) (5) (2)

(1)

(6)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
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5. LEASES

We have operating and finance leases that primarily relate to certain of our data centers and facilities.

The components of lease expense were as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Operating lease cost   $ 575    $ 362 
Finance lease cost:            

Amortization of ROU assets   $ 59    $ — 
Interest on lease liabilities     48      — 

Total finance lease cost   $ 107    $ — 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:
 

(in millions)  
August 31,

2025    
May 31,

2025  

Operating leases:           
Operating lease ROU assets   $ 15,979   $ 13,145 
Operating lease liabilities:           

Operating lease liabilities, current   $ 2,196   $ 1,914 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current     14,094     11,536 

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 16,290   $ 13,450 
Finance leases:            

Finance lease ROU assets   $ 3,937   $ 2,874 
Finance lease liabilities:            

Finance lease liabilities, current   $ 337   $ 257 
Finance lease liabilities, non-current     3,680     2,677 

Total finance lease liabilities   $ 4,017   $ 2,934 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:            
Operating leases   $ 567    $ 312 
Finance leases   $ 86    $ — 

As of August 31, 2025, we had $99.8 billion of additional lease commitments, substantially all for data centers, that are generally expected to commence 
between the second quarter of fiscal 2026 and fiscal 2028 and for terms of ten to sixteen years that were not reflected on our condensed consolidated 
balance sheets as of August 31, 2025.

Subsequent to August 31, 2025, we entered into $6.6 billion of additional lease commitments for data centers that are generally expected to commence 
between fiscal 2027 and fiscal 2028 and for terms of fourteen to fifteen years.
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6. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors (the Board) has approved a program for us to repurchase shares of our common stock. As of August 31, 2025, approximately $6.3 
billion remained available for stock repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase program. We repurchased 0.4 million shares for $93 million during the three 
months ended August 31, 2025 and 1.1 million shares for $150 million during the three months ended August 31, 2024 under the stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activity will depend on factors such as our working 
capital needs, our cash requirements for acquisitions and dividend payments, our debt repayment obligations or repurchases of our debt, our stock price and 
economic and market conditions. Our stock repurchases may be effected from time to time through open market purchases or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 
trading plan. Our stock repurchase program may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

Dividends on Common Stock

In September 2025, the Board declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.50 per share of our outstanding common stock. The dividend is payable on October 23, 
2025 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on October 9, 2025. Future declarations of dividends and the establishment of future record and 
payment dates are subject to the final determination of the Board.

Fiscal 2026 Stock‑Based Awards Activity and Compensation Expense

During the first quarter of fiscal 2026, we issued 2 million restricted stock-based units (RSUs) and stock options (SOs) for 1 million shares of common stock, all 
of which are subject to service-based vesting restrictions. These fiscal 2026 stock-based award issuances were partially offset by stock-based award forfeitures 
and cancellations of 11 million shares during the first quarter of fiscal 2026.

The SOs were granted at not less than fair market value, become exercisable generally 25% annually over four years of service, and generally expire ten years 
from the date of grant. We estimated the fair values of our SOs that were solely subject to service-based vesting requirements using the Black-Scholes-Merton 
option-pricing model, which was developed for use in estimating the fair values of SOs. Option valuation models, including the Black-Scholes-Merton option-
pricing model, require the input of assumptions, including stock price volatility. Changes in the input assumptions can affect the fair value estimates and 
ultimately how much we recognize as stock-based compensation expense. The RSUs that were granted during the three months ended August 31, 2025 
generally vest 25% annually over four years of service and were valued using methodologies of a similar nature as those described in Note 11 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025.
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Stock-based compensation expense is included in the following operating expense line items in our condensed consolidated statements of operations:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Cloud and software   $ 156    $ 141 
Hardware     7      6 
Services     49      43 
Sales and marketing     177      162 
Research and development     647      569 
General and administrative     88      86 

Total stock-based compensation   $ 1,124    $ 1,007 
 

7. INCOME TAXES

Our effective tax rates for each of the periods presented are the result of the mix of income earned and losses incurred in various tax jurisdictions that apply a 
broad range of income tax rates. Our provision for income taxes varied from the tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate for the periods 
presented primarily due to earnings in foreign operations, state taxes, the U.S. research and development tax credit, settlements with tax authorities, the tax 
effects of stock-based compensation, the Foreign Derived Intangible Income deduction and the tax effect of Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income. Our 
effective tax rates were 14.6% and 7.6% for the three months ended August 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Our net deferred tax assets were $9.8 billion and $10.2 billion as of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025, respectively. We believe that it is more likely than not 
that the net deferred tax assets will be realized in the foreseeable future. Realization of our net deferred tax assets is dependent upon our generation of 
sufficient taxable income in future years in appropriate tax jurisdictions to obtain benefit from the reversal of temporary differences, net operating loss 
carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards. The amount of net deferred tax assets considered realizable is subject to adjustment in future periods if estimates 
of future taxable income change.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing authorities are currently examining income tax returns of Oracle and various acquired entities for years through 
fiscal 2022. Our U.S. federal income tax returns have been examined for all years prior to fiscal 2013 and, with some exceptions, we are no longer subject to 
audit for those periods. Our U.S. state income tax returns, with some exceptions, have been examined for all years prior to fiscal 2010, and we are no longer 
subject to audit for those periods.

Internationally, tax authorities for numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions are also examining or have examined returns of Oracle and various acquired entities for 
years through fiscal 2024. Many of the relevant tax years are at an advanced stage in examination or subsequent controversy resolution processes. With some 
exceptions, we are generally no longer subject to tax examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions for years prior to fiscal 2001.

We are under audit by the IRS and various other domestic and foreign tax authorities with regards to income tax and indirect tax matters and are involved in 
various challenges and litigation in a number of countries, including, in particular, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Pakistan, Saudi 
Arabia, South Korea and Spain, where the amounts under controversy are significant. In some, although not all, cases, we have reserved for potential 
adjustments to our provision for income taxes and accrual of indirect taxes that may result from examinations by, or any negotiated agreements with, these 
tax authorities or final outcomes in judicial proceedings and we believe that the final outcome of these examinations, agreements or judicial proceedings will 
not have a material effect on our results of operations. If events occur which indicate payment of these amounts is unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities 
would result in the recognition of benefits in the period we determine the liabilities are 
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no longer necessary. If our estimates of the federal, state and foreign income tax liabilities and indirect tax liabilities are less than the ultimate assessment, it 
could result in a further charge to expense.

We believe that we have adequately provided under GAAP for outcomes related to our tax audits. However, there can be no assurances as to the possible 
outcomes or any related financial statement effect thereof.

Pursuant to the U.S. One, Big, Beautiful Bill Act that was signed into law on July 4, 2025, we recorded a net tax expense of $958 million during the first quarter 
of fiscal 2026, primarily related to the remeasurement of a deferred tax liability previously recorded during fiscal 2021 as part of the partial realignment of our 
legal entity structure.

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an 
enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, 
in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision makers (CODMs) are our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Technology Officer. We are organized by line of business and geographically. While our CODMs evaluate results in a number of different ways, the line of 
business management structure is the primary basis for which the allocation of resources and financial results are assessed. The tabular information below 
presents financial information, including information on segment revenues, significant segment expenses categories and amounts on a segment basis and 
included within each reported measure of a segment's profit or loss, that is regularly provided to our CODMs for their review and assists our CODMs with 
evaluating the company’s performance and allocating company resources.

We have three businesses—cloud and software (formerly referred to as cloud and license), hardware and services—each of which is comprised of a single 
operating segment. All three of our businesses market and sell our offerings globally to businesses of many sizes, government agencies, educational 
institutions and resellers with a worldwide sales force positioned to offer the combinations that best meet customer needs.

Our cloud and software business engages in the sale, marketing and delivery of our enterprise applications and infrastructure technologies through cloud and 
on-premise deployment models, including our cloud offerings and our software offerings, which include software license offerings and software support 
offerings. Cloud revenues are generated from offerings that are typically contracted with customers directly, billed to customers either in advance or in 
arrears, delivered to customers over time with our revenue recognition occurring over the contractual terms and renewed by customers upon completion of 
the contractual terms. Cloud revenues are generated from applications and infrastructure offerings that are typically contracted with customers directly, billed 
to customers either in advance or in arrears, delivered to customers over time with our revenue recognition occurring over the contractual terms and 
renewed by customers upon completion of the contractual terms. Our cloud contracts provide customers with access to the latest technological updates as 
they become available and for which the customer contracted together with related technical support services over the contractual term. Software revenues 
represent (1) fees earned from granting customers software licenses, generally on a perpetual basis, to use our database and middleware and our applications 
software products within cloud and on-premise information technology (IT) environments. We generally recognize revenues at the point in time the software 
is made available to the customer to download and use, which typically is immediate upon signature of the license contract; and (2) software support 
revenues, which are typically contracted with customers directly, billed to customers in advance, delivered to customers over time with our revenue 
recognition occurring over the contractual terms and renewed by customers upon completion of the contractual terms. Software support contracts provide 
customers with technical support services and unspecified license upgrades and enhancements during the term of the support period. In each fiscal year, our 
cloud and software business’ contractual activities, excluding the impact of timing of booking of large contracts, are typically highest in our fourth fiscal 
quarter, and the related cash flows are typically highest in the following quarter (i.e., in the first fiscal quarter of the next fiscal year) as we receive payments 
from these contracts. 
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Costs associated with our cloud and software business are largely personnel- and infrastructure-related, including the cost of providing our cloud and software 
offerings, salaries and commissions earned by our sales force for the sale of our cloud and software offerings and marketing program costs.

Our hardware business provides infrastructure technologies including Oracle Engineered Systems, servers, storage, industry-specific hardware, operating 
systems, virtualization, management and other hardware-related software to support diverse IT environments. Our hardware business also offers hardware 
support, which provides customers with software updates for the software components that are essential to the functionality of their hardware products and 
can also include product repairs, maintenance services and technical support services that are typically delivered and recognized ratably over the contractual 
term. Costs associated with our hardware business include the cost of hardware products, which consists of expenses for materials and labor used to produce 
these products by our internal manufacturing operations or by third-party manufacturers; the cost of materials used to repair customer products with eligible 
support contracts; the cost of labor and infrastructure to provide support services; and sales and marketing expenses, which are largely personnel-related and 
include variable compensation earned by our sales force for the sales of our hardware offerings.

Our services business provides services to customers and partners to help maximize the performance of their investments in Oracle applications and 
infrastructure technologies. Costs associated with our services business consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, technology infrastructure 
expenditures, facilities expenses and external contractor expenses.

We do not track our assets for each business. Consequently, it is not practical to show assets by operating segment.

The following table presents summary results for each of our three businesses:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Cloud and software:            
Revenues   $ 12,907    $ 11,389 
Cloud and software expenses     3,418      2,422 
Sales and marketing expenses     1,798      1,771 
Margin   $ 7,691    $ 7,196 

Hardware:            
Revenues   $ 670    $ 655 
Hardware products and support expenses     169      152 
Sales and marketing expenses     54      65 
Margin   $ 447    $ 438 

Services:            
Revenues   $ 1,349    $ 1,263 
Services expenses     1,017      1,066 
Margin   $ 332    $ 197 

Totals:            
Revenues   $ 14,926    $ 13,307 
Expenses     6,456      5,476 
Margin   $ 8,470    $ 7,831 

 

The margins reported reflect only the direct controllable costs of each line of business and do not include allocations of research and development, general and administrative and certain other allocable 
expenses, net. Additionally, the margins reported above do not reflect amortization of 

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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intangible assets, acquisition related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, stock-based compensation, interest expense or certain other non-operating income, net. Refer to the table below for a 
reconciliation of our total margin for operating segments to our income before income taxes as reported per our condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The following table reconciles total margin for operating segments to income before income taxes:
 
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Total margin for operating segments   $ 8,470    $ 7,831 
Research and development     (2,491)     (2,306)
General and administrative     (376)     (358)
Amortization of intangible assets     (420)     (624)
Acquisition related and other     (13)     (13)
Restructuring     (402)     (73)
Stock-based compensation for operating segments     (389)     (352)
Expense allocations and other, net     (102)     (114)
Interest expense     (923)     (842)
Non-operating income, net     73      20 

Income before income taxes   $ 3,427    $ 3,169 

Disaggregation of Revenues

We have considered information that is regularly reviewed by our CODMs in evaluating financial performance and disclosures presented outside of our 
financial statements in our earnings releases and used in investor presentations to disaggregate revenues to depict how the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenues and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The principal category we use to disaggregate revenues is the nature of our products 
and services as presented in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. 

The following table is a summary of our total revenues by geographic region:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Americas   $ 9,662    $ 8,372 
EMEA     3,481      3,228 
Asia Pacific     1,783      1,707 

Total revenues   $ 14,926    $ 13,307 
 

Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa

The following table presents our software revenues by offerings:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Software license   $ 766    $ 870 
Software support     4,955      4,896 

Total software revenues   $ 5,721    $ 5,766 
 

(1)

(1)
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The following table presents our cloud revenues by offerings:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Cloud applications   $ 3,839    $ 3,469 
Cloud infrastructure     3,347      2,154 

Total cloud revenues   $ 7,186    $ 5,623 
 

9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period, plus the dilutive effect of outstanding restricted stock-based awards, stock options and shares issuable under the employee stock purchase plan as 
applicable pursuant to the treasury stock method. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions, except per share data)   2025     2024  

Net income   $ 2,927    $ 2,929 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding     2,826      2,761 
Dilutive effect of employee stock plans     83      90 
Dilutive weighted-average common shares outstanding     2,909      2,851 
Basic earnings per share   $ 1.04    $ 1.06 
Diluted earnings per share   $ 1.01    $ 1.03 
Anti-dilutive stock awards excluded from calculation     2      24 
 

These stock awards primarily relate to contingently issuable shares pursuant to performance stock option arrangements. Such shares could be dilutive in the future.

10. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Netherlands Privacy Class Action

On August 14, 2020, The Privacy Collective (TPC), a foundation having its registered office in Amsterdam, filed a purported class action lawsuit against Oracle 
Nederland B.V, Oracle Corporation and Oracle America, Inc. (the Oracle Defendants), Salesforce.com, Inc. and SFDC Netherlands B.V. in the District Court of 
Amsterdam. TPC alleges that the Oracle Defendants’ Data Management Platform product violates certain articles of the European Union Charter of 
Fundamental Rights, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Dutch Telecommunications Act (Telecommunicatiewet). TPC claims damages 
under a number of categories, including: “immaterial damages” (at a fixed amount of €500 per Dutch internet user); “material damages” (in that the costs of 
loss of control over personal data should be equated to the market value of the personal data for parties like the Oracle Defendants); compensation for losses 
suffered due to an alleged data breach (at a fixed amount of €100 per Dutch internet user); and compensation for the costs of the litigation funder (10% to 
25% of the compensation awarded); and the (actual) cost of the proceedings and extrajudicial costs.

We filed our defense on March 3, 2021, and on December 29, 2021, the District Court issued a judgment, holding that all of TPC’s claims were deemed 
inadmissible because of fundamental procedural flaws. TPC filed an appeal 

(1)

(1)
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with the Court of Appeal in Amsterdam challenging the District Court’s judgment, except for the claims regarding the alleged data breach, which were 
dropped. On June 18, 2024, the Court of Appeal overturned the District Court’s decision regarding admissibility, thus permitting the case to proceed. We 
requested that the Court of Appeal permit an interim appeal to the Dutch Supreme Court and/or the European Court of Justice. On September 24, 2024, the 
Court of Appeal issued a judgment confirming that TPC’s claims are admissible and referred the matter back to the District Court of Amsterdam for a decision 
on the merits of TPC’s claims, including TPC’s claims for damages under article 82 of the GDPR. The Court of Appeal also granted Oracle’s request for an 
interim appeal to the Supreme Court, appealing the June 18 and September 24, 2024 judgments.

Oracle filed its statement of appeal with the Dutch Supreme Court on December 20, 2024, and TPC appeared in the proceedings on January 31, 2025. The 
filing of the Supreme Court appeal effectively suspended proceedings before the District Court pursuant to applicable procedural rules. TPC filed its statement 
of defense in response to our Supreme Court appeal and a counter appeal on February 27, 2025. Oracle filed its statement of defense to the counter appeal 
on March 28, 2025. TPC and Oracle filed their written submissions setting out their detailed arguments on July 18, 2025. The parties filed their respective 
further written replies and rejoinders on August 28, 2025. The matter is scheduled to be heard on September 26, 2025, when a date will be set for the 
issuance of the opinion of the Advocate-General to the Dutch Supreme Court.

We believe that we have meritorious defenses against this action, including defenses to the quantum of damages claimed, and we will continue to vigorously 
defend it.

While the final outcome of this matter cannot be predicted with certainty and we cannot estimate a range of loss at this time, we do not believe that it will 
have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Other Litigation

We are party to various other legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of business, including 
proceedings and claims that relate to acquisitions we have completed or to companies we have acquired or are attempting to acquire. While the outcome of 
these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the outcome of any of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will result in 
losses that are materially in excess of amounts already recognized, if any.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations with an overview of our businesses and significant trends. 
This overview is followed by a summary of our critical accounting estimates that we believe are important to understanding significant assumptions and 
judgments incorporated in our reported financial results. We then provide a more detailed analysis of our results of operations and financial condition.

Business Overview

Oracle provides products and services that address enterprise information technology (IT) needs. Our products and services include enterprise applications 
and infrastructure offerings that are delivered worldwide through a variety of flexible and interoperable IT deployment models. These models include on-
premise, cloud-based and hybrid deployments (an approach that combines both on-premise and cloud-based deployments). Accordingly, we offer choice and 
flexibility to our customers and facilitate the product, service and deployment combinations that best suit our customers’ needs. Through our worldwide sales 
force and Oracle Partner Network, we sell to customers all over the world including businesses of many sizes, government agencies, educational institutions 
and resellers.

We have three businesses: cloud and software (formerly referred to as cloud and license); hardware; and services; each of which comprises a single operating 
segment. The descriptions set forth below as a part of this Item 2 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and 
the information contained within Note 8 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report provide 
additional information related to our businesses and operating segments and align to how our chief operating decision makers (CODMs), which are our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Technology Officer, view our operating results and allocate resources.

Cloud and Software Business

Our cloud and software business, which represented 86% of our total revenues on a trailing four-quarter basis, markets, sells and delivers a broad spectrum of 
enterprise applications and infrastructure technologies through our cloud and software offerings. Revenue streams included in our cloud and software 
business are:

• Cloud revenues, which are earned by providing customers access to Oracle Cloud applications and infrastructure technologies via cloud-based 
deployment models that Oracle develops, provides unspecified updates and enhancements for, deploys, hosts, manages and supports and that 
customers access by entering into a subscription agreement with us for a stated period. Oracle Cloud Applications and Oracle Cloud Infrastructure 
(collectively Oracle Cloud Services) arrangements generally: are billed in advance of the cloud services being delivered; have durations of one to 
four years; are renewed at the customer’s option; and are recognized as revenues ratably over the contractual period of the cloud contract or, in 
the case of usage model contracts, as the cloud services are consumed over time; and 

• Software revenues, which include:

o software license revenues, which are earned by providing the licensing of our software products including Oracle Applications, Oracle 
Database, Oracle Middleware and Java, among others, which our customers deploy within cloud-based, on-premise or other IT environments. 
Our software license transactions are generally perpetual in nature and are generally recognized as revenues up front at the point in time 
when the software is made available to the customer to download and use. Revenues from usage-based royalty arrangements for distinct 
software licenses are recognized at the point in time when the software end user usage occurs. The timing of a few large software license 
transactions can substantially affect our quarterly software license revenues due to the point-in-time nature of revenue recognition for 
software license transactions, which is different than the typical revenue recognition pattern for our cloud and software support revenues in 
which revenues are recognized over time. Software license customers have the option to purchase and renew software support contracts, as 
further described below; and

o software support revenues, which are earned by providing Oracle software support services to customers that have elected to purchase 
support services in connection with the purchase of Oracle applications and infrastructure software licenses for use in cloud, on-premise and 
other IT 



Table of Contents

 

22

environments. Substantially all software support customers renew their support contracts with us upon expiration in order to continue to 
benefit from technical support services and the periodic issuance of unspecified updates and enhancements, which current software support 
customers are entitled to receive. Software support contracts are generally: priced as a percentage of the net fees paid by the customer to 
purchase a software license; billed in advance of the support services being performed; renewed at the customer’s option; and recognized as 
revenues ratably over the contractual period that the support services are provided, which is generally one year.

Providing choice and flexibility to our customers as to when and how they deploy Oracle applications and infrastructure technologies are important elements 
of our corporate strategy. In recent periods, customer demand for our applications and infrastructure technologies delivered through our Oracle Cloud 
Services has increased. To address customer demand and enable customer choice, we have certain programs for customers to pivot their applications and 
infrastructure software licenses and the related software support to the Oracle Cloud for new deployments and to migrate to and expand with the Oracle 
Cloud for their existing workloads. The proportion of our cloud revenues relative to our total revenues has increased and we expect this trend to continue. 
Cloud revenues represented 48% and 42% of our total revenues for the three-month periods ended August 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Our cloud and software business’ revenue growth is affected by many factors, including the strength of general economic and business conditions, including 
the effects of inflation, tariffs and trade policy, geopolitical conditions and other macroeconomic factors on customer demand; governmental budgetary 
constraints; the strategy for and competitive position of our offerings; customer satisfaction with our offerings; the continued renewal of our cloud and 
software support customer contracts by the customer contract base; substantially all customers continuing to purchase software support contracts in 
connection with their license purchases; the pricing of software support contracts sold in connection with the sales of licenses; the pricing, amounts and 
volumes of licenses and cloud services sold; our ability to manage Oracle Cloud capacity requirements to meet existing and prospective customer demand; 
and foreign currency rate fluctuations.

On a constant currency basis, we expect that our total cloud and software revenues generally will continue to increase due to:

• expected growth in our cloud offerings; and

• continued demand for our software offerings.

We believe these factors should contribute to future growth in our cloud and software business’ total revenues, which should enable us to continue to make 
investments in research and development and our cloud operations to develop, improve, increase the capacity of and expand the geographic footprint of our 
cloud and software products and services.

Our cloud and software business’ margin has historically trended upward over the course of the four quarters within a particular fiscal year due to the 
historical upward trend of our cloud and software business’ revenues over those quarterly periods and because the majority of our costs for this business are 
generally fixed in the short term. The historical upward trend of our cloud and software business’ revenues over the course of the four quarters within a 
particular fiscal year is primarily due to the addition of new cloud and software support contracts to the customer contract base, which we generally recognize 
as revenues ratably or based upon customer usage over the respective contractual terms and the renewal of existing customers’ cloud and software support 
contracts over the course of each fiscal year, which we generally recognize as revenues in a similar manner; and the historical upward trend of our software 
license revenues, which we generally recognize at a point in time upon delivery; in each case over those four fiscal quarterly periods. Our margin for this 
business may be adversely impacted due to increases in supply chain and energy costs, the impact of tariffs and trade policy and other factors.

Hardware Business

Our hardware business, which represented 5% of our total revenues on a trailing four-quarter basis, provides a broad selection of enterprise hardware 
products and hardware-related software products including Oracle Engineered Systems, servers, storage, industry-specific hardware offerings, operating 
systems, virtualization, management and other hardware-related software and related hardware support. Each hardware product and its related software, 
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such as an operating system or firmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as a combined performance obligation. The 
revenues for this combined performance obligation are generally recognized at the point in time that the hardware product and its related software are 
delivered to the customer and ownership is transferred to the customer. We expect to continue to make investments in research and development to 
improve existing hardware products and services and to develop new hardware products and services. The majority of our hardware products are sold 
through indirect channels, including independent distributors and value-added resellers. Our hardware support offerings provide customers with unspecified 
software updates for software components that are essential to the functionality of our hardware products and associated software products. Our hardware 
support offerings can also include product repairs, maintenance services and technical support services. Hardware support contracts are entered into and 
renewed at the option of the customer, are generally priced as a percentage of the net hardware products fees and are generally recognized as revenues 
ratably as the hardware support services are delivered over the contractual terms.

We generally expect our hardware business to have lower operating margins as a percentage of revenues than our cloud and software business due to the 
incremental costs we incur to produce and distribute these products and to provide support services, including direct materials and labor costs. 

Our quarterly hardware revenues are difficult to predict. Our hardware revenues, cost of hardware and hardware operating margins that we report are 
affected by many factors, including our manufacturing partners’ abilities to timely and cost-effectively manufacture or deliver a few large hardware 
transactions; our strategy for and the pricing and position of our hardware products relative to competitor offerings; customer demand for competing 
offerings, including cloud infrastructure offerings; the strength of general economic and business conditions, including the effects of inflation, tariffs and trade 
policy, geopolitical conditions and other macroeconomic factors on customer demand; governmental budgetary constraints; whether customers decide to 
purchase hardware support contracts at or in close proximity to the time of hardware product sale; the percentage of our hardware support contract 
customer base that renews its support contracts; the effect of tariffs and other trade barriers on our costs, and our ability to pass such costs on to customers; 
the geographic locations of our customers; the close association between hardware products, which have a finite life, and customer demand for related 
hardware support as hardware products age; customer decisions to either maintain or upgrade their existing hardware infrastructure to newly developed 
technologies that are available; and foreign currency rate fluctuations.

Services Business

Our services business, which represented 9% of our total revenues on a trailing four-quarter basis, helps customers and partners maximize the performance of 
their investments in Oracle applications and infrastructure technologies. We believe that our services are differentiated based on our focus on Oracle 
technologies, extensive experience, broad sets of intellectual property and best practices. Our services offerings include consulting services and advanced 
customer services. Our services business has lower margins than our cloud and software and hardware businesses. Our services revenues are affected by 
many factors including our strategy for, and the competitive position of, our services; customer demand for our cloud and software and hardware offerings 
and the related services that we may market and sell in connection with these offerings; general economic conditions; governmental budgetary constraints; 
personnel reductions in our customers’ IT departments; tighter controls over customer discretionary spending; and foreign currency rate fluctuations. 

Acquisitions

Our selective and active acquisition program is another important element of our corporate strategy. Historically, we have invested billions of dollars to 
acquire a number of complementary companies, products, services and technologies. As compelling opportunities become available, we may acquire 
companies, products, services and technologies in furtherance of our corporate strategy.

We believe that we can fund our future acquisitions with our internally available cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balances, cash generated 
from operations, additional borrowings or from the issuance of additional securities. We estimate the financial impact of any potential acquisition with regard 
to earnings, operating margin, cash flows and return on invested capital targets, among others, before deciding to move forward with an acquisition.
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Investment in Ampere Computing Holdings LLC

From time to time since 2017, we have made investments in Ampere Computing Holdings LLC (Ampere), an equity method investee, in the form of equity and 
convertible debt instruments. The total carrying value of our investments in Ampere, after accounting for losses under the equity method of accounting, was 
$1.7 billion as of August 31, 2025.

Our equity investments in Ampere represent an ownership interest of approximately 29% as of August 31, 2025. We also own convertible debt investments in 
Ampere which, under the terms of an agreement with Ampere and other co-investors, will mature in June 2026 and are convertible into equity securities at 
the holder’s option under certain circumstances. During the three months ended August 31, 2025, we invested an aggregate of $90 million in convertible debt 
instruments issued by Ampere. In accordance with the terms of an agreement with other co-investors, we are also a counterparty to certain put (exercisable 
by a co-investor) and call (exercisable by Oracle) options at prices of approximately $500 million to $1.5 billion, respectively, to acquire additional equity 
interests in Ampere from our co-investors through January 2027. 

On March 19, 2025, SoftBank Group Corp. announced that it had entered into an agreement with Ampere and its equity holders to acquire all of the equity 
interests of Ampere. The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals. When the Ampere Acquisition closes, we will 
cease to be an investor in Ampere. During the period prior to the closing of the Ampere Acquisition, the amount of our investments in Ampere could increase 
for a variety of reasons and we will continue to recognize our share of loss in Ampere’s net earnings until the closure of the acquisition.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with United States (U.S.) generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), which requires 
us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that can affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related 
disclosures. Critical accounting estimates are those estimates that involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and have had, or are reasonably likely to 
have, a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions upon which we rely are 
reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. To the extent that there are 
differences between these estimates, judgments or assumptions and actual results, our financial statements will be affected. We have critical accounting 
estimates in the areas of income taxes and non-marketable investments.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2026, there were no significant changes to our critical accounting estimates. Refer to “Critical Accounting Estimates” under 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 for a more complete discussion of our critical accounting estimates.

Results of Operations

Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information 

In our results of operations discussion below, we provide an overview of our total consolidated revenues, total consolidated operating expenses and total 
consolidated operating margin, all of which are presented on a GAAP basis. We also present a GAAP-based discussion below for substantially all of the other 
expense items as presented in our condensed consolidated statements of operations that are not directly attributable to our three businesses.

In addition, we discuss below the results of each of our three businesses—cloud and software, hardware and services—which are our operating segments as 
defined pursuant to ASC 280, Segment Reporting. The financial reporting for our three businesses that is presented below is presented in a manner that is 
consistent with that used by our CODMs. Our operating segment presentation below reflects revenues, direct costs and sales and marketing expenses that 
correspond to and are directly attributable to each of our three businesses. We also utilize these inputs to calculate and present a segment margin for each of 
our three businesses in the discussion below.

Consistent with our internal management reporting processes, research and development expenses, general and administrative expenses, stock-based 
compensation expenses, amortization of intangible assets, certain other expense allocations, acquisition related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, 
interest expense, 
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non-operating income, net and provision for income taxes are not attributed to our three operating segments because our management does not view the 
performance of our three businesses including such items and/or it is impracticable to do so. Refer to “Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges” 
below for additional discussion of certain of these items and Note 8 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report for a reconciliation of the summations of total segment margin as presented in the discussion below to total income before income taxes as 
presented per our condensed consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented.

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international operations have provided, and are expected to continue to provide, a significant portion of each of our businesses’ revenues and expenses. 
As a result, each of our businesses’ revenues and expenses and our total revenues and expenses will continue to be affected by changes in the U.S. Dollar 
against major international currencies. In order to provide a framework for assessing how our underlying businesses performed, excluding the effects of 
foreign currency rate fluctuations, we compare the percent change in the results from one period to another period in this Quarterly Report using constant 
currency. To present this information, current and comparative prior period results for entities reporting in currencies other than U.S. Dollars are converted 
into U.S. Dollars at constant exchange rates (i.e., the rates in effect on May 31, 2025, which was the last day of our prior fiscal year) rather than the actual 
exchange rates in effect during the respective periods. For example, if an entity reporting in Euros had revenues of 1.0 million Euros from products sold on 
August 31, 2025 and 2024, our financial statements would reflect reported revenues of $1.16 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 (using 1.16 as the 
applicable average exchange rate for the period) and $1.11 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2025 (using 1.11 as the applicable average exchange rate for the 
period). The constant currency presentation, however, would translate the results for each of the first quarters of fiscal 2026 and 2025 using the May 31, 2025 
exchange rate and indicate, in this example, no change in revenues between the periods compared. In each of the tables below, we present the percent 
change based on actual, unrounded results in reported currency and in constant currency.

Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
 

    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Total Revenues by Geography:                    
Americas   $ 9,662    15%  15%  $ 8,372 
EMEA     3,481    8%  3%    3,228 
Asia Pacific     1,783    4%  4%    1,707 

Total revenues     14,926    12%  11%    13,307 
Total Operating Expenses     10,649    14%  14%    9,316 
Total Operating Margin   $ 4,277    7%  4%  $ 3,991 

Total Operating Margin %   29%            30%  
% Revenues by Geography:                    
Americas   65%            63%  
EMEA   23%            24%  
Asia Pacific   12%            13%  
Total Revenues by Business:                    
Cloud and software   $ 12,907    13%  12%  $ 11,389 
Hardware     670    2%  1%    655 
Services     1,349    7%  5%    1,263 

Total revenues   $ 14,926    12%  11%  $ 13,307 

% Revenues by Business:                    
Cloud and software   86%            86%  
Hardware   5%            5%  
Services   9%            9%  
 

Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa

Total revenues increased by $1.6 billion in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to a $1.5 billion 
increase in cloud and software revenues, an $86 million increase in 

(1)

(1)
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services revenues and a $15 million increase in hardware revenues, in each case during the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 
2025. The increase in our cloud and software business revenues was primarily due to growth in our cloud revenues as customers purchased our applications 
and infrastructure technologies and also renewed their related cloud contracts. In constant currency, cloud applications and cloud infrastructure contributed 
23% and 77%, respectively, of the growth in cloud revenues in the first quarter of fiscal 2026. In our hardware business, the increase in revenues in the first 
quarter of fiscal 2026 was primarily due to growth in revenues from our Oracle Exadata and certain other strategic hardware product offerings. In our services 
business, the increase in revenues in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 was attributable to an increase in revenues in each of our primary services offerings. The 
Americas, the EMEA and the Asia Pacific regions contributed 89%, 6% and 5%, respectively, to the constant currency total revenue growth during the first 
quarter of fiscal 2026.

Total GAAP operating expenses increased by $1.3 billion in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025. The 
increase in GAAP operating expenses in reported currency during the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, was primarily due 
to a $1.0 billion increase in cloud and software expenses primarily due to higher infrastructure expenses and higher employee-related expenses, including 
higher expenses relating to stock-based compensation, that were incurred to support the growth in our cloud revenues; a $329 million increase in 
restructuring expenses; a $185 million increase in research and development expenses, primarily due to higher employee-related expenses, including higher 
stock-based compensation expenses; a $27 million increase in sales and marketing expenses; an $18 million increase in general and administrative expenses; 
and a $16 million increase in hardware expenses. These increases in GAAP operating expenses in reported currency during the first quarter of fiscal 2026, 
relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, were partially offset by a $204 million decrease in expenses for the amortization of intangible assets as certain of our 
assets were fully amortized; and a $48 million decrease in services expenses primarily due to a decrease in bad debt expenses.

Our total operating margin increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to higher revenues. Total margin as a 
percentage of revenues decreased in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to higher expenses.

Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our condensed consolidated financial information, we believe that the following information is helpful to an overall understanding of our past 
financial performance and prospects for the future.

Our operating results reported pursuant to GAAP included the following business combination accounting adjustments and expenses related to acquisitions 
and certain other expenses, including stock-based compensation, that affected our GAAP net income:
 

   
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  
(in millions)   2025     2024  

Amortization of intangible assets   $ 420    $ 624 
Acquisition related and other     13      13 
Restructuring     402      73 
Stock-based compensation, operating segments     389      352 
Stock-based compensation, R&D and G&A     735      655 
Income tax effects     (603)     (682)
    $ 1,356    $ 1,035 
 

Represents the amortization of intangible assets, all of which were acquired in connection with our acquisitions. As of August 31, 2025, estimated future amortization related to intangible assets was as 
follows (in millions):

 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(4)

(5)

(1)
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  Remainder of fiscal 2026   $ 1,219 
  Fiscal 2027     672 
  Fiscal 2028     635 
  Fiscal 2029     561 
  Fiscal 2030     522 
  Fiscal 2031     332 
  Thereafter     226 

  Total intangible assets, net   $ 4,167 
 

Acquisition related and other expenses consist of personnel-related costs for transitional and certain other employees, certain business combination adjustments including certain adjustments after the 
measurement period has ended and certain other operating items, net.

Restructuring expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 primarily related to employee severance in connection with the Fiscal 2026 Oracle Restructuring Plan (2026 Restructuring Plan). Restructuring 
expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 2025 primarily related to employee severance in connection with the Fiscal 2024 Oracle Restructuring Plan (2024 Restructuring Plan). Additional information regarding 
certain of our restructuring plans is provided in management’s discussion below under “Restructuring Expenses,” in Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in 
this Quarterly Report and in Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025.

Stock-based compensation was included in the following operating expense line items of our condensed consolidated statements of operations (in millions): 
 

     
Three Months Ended 

August 31,  

      2025     2024  

  Cloud and software   $ 156    $ 141 
  Hardware     7       6  
  Services     49      43 
  Sales and marketing     177      162 

  Stock-based compensation, operating segments     389      352 

  Research and development     647      569 
  General and administrative     88      86 

  Total stock-based compensation   $ 1,124    $ 1,007 
 

For the first quarter of fiscal 2026, the applicable jurisdictional tax rate applied to our income before income taxes (after excluding the tax effects of items within the table above such as for stock-based 
compensation, amortization of intangible assets, restructuring and certain acquisition related and other items, and after excluding the impact of the U.S. One, Big, Beautiful Bill Act related to the 
remeasurement of a deferred tax liability and the net deferred tax effects associated with a previously recorded income tax benefit that resulted from a partial realignment of our legal entity structure), 
resulted in an effective tax rate of 20.5%, instead of 14.6%. This represented our effective tax rate as derived per our condensed consolidated statements of operations. For the first quarter of fiscal 2025, 
the applicable jurisdictional tax rate applied to our income before income taxes (after excluding the tax effects of items within the table above such as for stock-based compensation, amortization of 
intangible assets, restructuring and certain acquisition related and other items, and after excluding the net deferred tax effects associated with a previously recorded income tax benefit that resulted from 
a partial realignment of our legal entity structure), resulted in an effective tax rate of 18.9%, instead of 7.6%, which represented our effective tax rate as derived per our condensed consolidated 
statements of operations.

Cloud and Software Business

Our cloud and software business engages in the sale and marketing of our applications and infrastructure technologies that are delivered through various 
deployment models and include: Oracle Cloud offerings; and software offerings, which include Oracle software license offerings and Oracle software support 
offerings. Our cloud offerings deliver applications and infrastructure technologies on a subscription basis via cloud-based deployment models that we develop, 
provide unspecified updates and enhancements for, deploy, host, manage and support. Revenues for our cloud offerings are generally recognized ratably over 
the contractual term, which is generally one to four years, or in the case of usage model contracts, as the cloud offerings are consumed. Software license 
revenues represent fees earned from granting customers licenses, generally on a perpetual basis, to use our database and middleware and our applications 
software products within cloud and on-premise IT environments and are generally recognized up front at the point in time when the software is made 
available to the customer to download and use. Software support revenues are typically generated through the sale of applications and infrastructure 
software support contracts related to software licenses; are purchased by our customers at their option; and are generally recognized as revenues ratably 
over the contractual term, which is generally one year. We continue to place significant emphasis, both domestically and internationally, on direct sales 
through our own sales force. We also continue to market certain of our offerings through indirect channels. Costs associated with our cloud 
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and software business are included in cloud and software expenses and sales and marketing expenses. These costs are largely personnel- and infrastructure-
related and include the cost of providing our cloud and software support offerings, salaries and commissions earned by our sales force for the sale of our 
cloud and software offerings and marketing program costs.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  
          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Cloud and Software Revenues:                    
Americas   $ 8,502    16%  16%  $ 7,317 
EMEA     2,942    9%  4%    2,687 
Asia Pacific     1,463    6%  5%    1,385 

Total revenues     12,907    13%  12%    11,389 
Expenses:                    
Cloud and software     3,418    41%  41%    2,422 
Sales and marketing     1,798    1%  0%    1,771 

Total expenses     5,216    24%  24%    4,193 
Total Margin   $ 7,691    7%  5%  $ 7,196 

Total Margin %   60%            63%  
% Revenues by Geography:                    
Americas   66%            64%  
EMEA   23%            24%  
Asia Pacific   11%            12%  
Revenues by Offerings:                    
Cloud applications   $ 3,839    11%  10%  $ 3,469 
Cloud infrastructure     3,347    55%  54%    2,154 
Software license     766    -12%  -13%    870 
Software support     4,955    1%  -1%    4,896 

Total revenues   $ 12,907    13%   12%  $ 11,389 
 

Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating 
segment results for purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

Our cloud and software business’ total revenues increased by $1.5 billion in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of 
fiscal 2025 primarily due to an increase in cloud revenues as customers purchased our applications and infrastructure technologies and renewed their related 
cloud contracts. In constant currency, cloud applications and cloud infrastructure contributed 23% and 77%, respectively, of the growth in cloud revenues in 
the first quarter of fiscal 2026. The Americas, the EMEA and the Asia Pacific regions contributed 86%, 9% and 5%, respectively, to the constant currency 
revenue growth for this business during the first quarter of fiscal 2026.

Our cloud and software business’ total expenses increased by $1.0 billion in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of 
fiscal 2025. Excluding the unfavorable effects of currency rate fluctuations of less than 1% in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, the constant currency increase in 
expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025 was primarily due to a $929 million increase in infrastructure expenses and 
a $41 million increase in employee-related expenses. Our cloud and software expenses have grown in recent periods, and we expect this trend to continue 
during fiscal 2026 as we increase our existing data center capacity and establish data centers in new geographic locations in order to meet current and 
expected customer demand. 

Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuations, our cloud and software business’ total margin increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the 
first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to increases in total revenues for this business. Total margin as a percentage of revenues in constant currency decreased in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to an increase in total expenses for this business.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Hardware Business

Our hardware business’ revenues are generated from the sales of our Oracle Engineered Systems, server, storage and industry-specific hardware offerings. 
The hardware product and related software, such as an operating system or firmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as a 
combined performance obligation. The revenues for this combined performance obligation are generally recognized at the point in time that the hardware 
product is delivered to the customer and ownership is transferred to the customer. Our hardware business also earns revenues from the sale of hardware 
support contracts purchased by our customers at their option and that are generally recognized as revenues ratably as the hardware support services are 
delivered over the contractual term, which is generally one year. The majority of our hardware products are sold through indirect channels such as 
independent distributors and value-added resellers and we also market and sell our hardware products through our direct sales force. Operating expenses 
associated with our hardware business include the cost of hardware products, which consists of expenses for materials and labor used to produce these 
products by our internal manufacturing operations or by third-party manufacturers, warranty and related expenses and the impact of periodic changes in 
inventory valuation, including the impact of inventory determined to be excess and obsolete; the cost of materials used to repair customer products with 
eligible support contracts; the cost of labor and infrastructure to provide support services; and sales and marketing expenses, which are largely personnel-
related and include variable compensation earned by our sales force for the sales of our hardware offerings.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Hardware Revenues:                    
Americas   $ 315    9%  9%  $ 288 
EMEA     202    -5%  -9%    214 
Asia Pacific     153    0%  -1%    153 

Total revenues     670    2%  1%    655 
Expenses:                    
Hardware products and support     169    11%  9%    152 
Sales and marketing     54    -17%  -19%    65 

Total expenses     223    3%  1%    217 
Total Margin   $ 447    2%  1%  $ 438 
Total Margin %   67%           67%  
% Revenues by Geography:                    
Americas   47%           44%  
EMEA   30%           33%  
Asia Pacific   23%           23%  
 

Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating 
segment results for purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

Total hardware revenues increased by $15 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025. Excluding 
the favorable impact of currency rate fluctuations of 1% in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, the increase in hardware revenues was primarily due to growth in 
revenues from our Oracle Exadata and certain other strategic hardware product offerings. The constant currency increase in hardware revenues in the 
Americas region was partially offset by a constant currency decrease in hardware revenues in the EMEA and the Asia Pacific regions in the first quarter of fiscal 
2026.

Total hardware expenses increased by $6 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025. Excluding the 
unfavorable currency rate fluctuations effect of 2% in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, the constant currency increase in hardware expenses in the first quarter 
of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025 was due to a $14 million increase in hardware product and support costs, partially offset by a $12 
million decrease in sales and marketing expenses.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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In constant currency, our hardware business’ total margin increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to higher 
total revenues for this business. In constant currency, total margin as a percentage of revenues remained flat in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the 
first quarter of fiscal 2025.

Services Business

Our services offerings are designed to help maximize the performance of customer investments in Oracle applications and infrastructure technologies and 
include our consulting services and advanced customer services offerings. Services revenues are generally recognized over time as the services are performed. 
The cost of providing our services consists primarily of personnel-related expenses, technology infrastructure expenditures, facilities expenses and external 
contractor expenses. 
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  
          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Services Revenues:                    
Americas   $ 845    10%   10%  $ 767 
EMEA     337    3%   -2%    327 
Asia Pacific     167    -1%   -1%    169 

Total revenues     1,349    7%   5%    1,263 
Total Expenses     1,017    -5%   -5%    1,066 
Total Margin   $ 332    67%   64%  $ 197 
Total Margin %   25%             16%  
% Revenues by Geography:                    
Americas   63%             61%  
EMEA   25%             26%  
Asia Pacific   12%             13%  
 

Excludes stock-based compensation and certain allocations. Also excludes certain other GAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for purposes of reporting to and 
review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information” above.

Total services revenues increased by $86 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025 due to an 
increase in revenues in each of our primary services offerings. The constant currency increase in services revenues in the Americas region was partially offset 
by a constant currency decrease in services revenues in the EMEA and the Asia Pacific regions in the first quarter of fiscal 2026.

Total services expenses decreased by $49 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025. Excluding the 
unfavorable effects of currency rate fluctuations of less than 1% in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, the constant currency decrease in services expenses in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025 was primarily due to a $55 million decrease in bad debt expenses.

In constant currency, our services business’ total margin and total margin as a percentage of revenues increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to 
the first quarter of fiscal 2025, due to higher total revenues and lower total expenses for this business.

Research and Development Expenses:   Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenditures. We intend to continue to 
invest significantly in our research and development efforts because, in our judgment, they are essential to maintaining our competitive position.
 

(1)

(1)
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    Three Months Ended August 31,  
          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Research and development  $ 1,844    6%   6%  $ 1,737 
Stock-based compensation    647    14%   14%    569 

Total expenses  $ 2,491    8%   8%  $ 2,306 
% of Total Revenues   17%             17%  
 

Excluding stock-based compensation

Total research and development expenses increased by $185 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 
2025. Excluding the favorable effects of currency rate fluctuations of less than 1% in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, the increase in research and development 
expenses was primarily due to a $137 million increase in employee-related expenses, including higher stock-based compensation expenses, and a $38 million 
increase in computer equipment expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses:   General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel-related expenditures for IT, finance, legal and 
human resources support functions.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  
          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

General and administrative   $ 288    6%   5%  $ 272 
Stock-based compensation     88    3%   3%    86 

Total expenses   $ 376    5%   4%  $ 358 
% of Total Revenues   2%             3%  
 

Excluding stock-based compensation 

Total general and administrative expenses increased by $18 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the first quarter of fiscal 
2025. Excluding the unfavorable effects of currency rate fluctuations of 1% in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, the increase in general and administrative 
expenses was primarily due to an increase in event sponsorship expenses.

Amortization of Intangible Assets:   Substantially all our intangible assets were acquired through our business combinations. We amortize our intangible 
assets over, and monitor the appropriateness of, the estimated useful lives of these assets. We also periodically review these intangible assets for potential 
impairment based upon relevant facts and circumstances. Refer to Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 for additional information regarding our intangible assets and related amortization.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Cloud and software agreements and related relationships  $ 149    -54%  -54%  $ 326 
Developed technology    154    -7%  -7%    165 
Other    117    -12%  -12%    133 

Total amortization of intangible assets  $ 420    -33%  -33%  $ 624 
 

Amortization of intangible assets decreased by $204 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, 
due to a reduction in expenses associated with certain of our intangible assets that became fully amortized.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Acquisition Related and Other Expenses:   Acquisition related and other expenses consist of personnel-related costs for transitional and certain other 
employees, certain business combination adjustments, including adjustments after the measurement period has ended, and certain other operating items, 
net.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Transitional and other employee-related costs  $ —    -100%  -100%  $ 2 
Business combination adjustments, net     5    *  *    (5)
Other, net    8    -46%  -47%    16 

Total acquisition related and other expenses  $ 13    10%  8%  $ 13 
 

* Not meaningful

Acquisition related and other expenses remained flat in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025.

Restructuring Expenses:   Restructuring expenses resulted from the execution of management-approved restructuring plans that were generally developed to 
improve our cost structure and/or operations, often in conjunction with our acquisition integration strategies and/or other strategic initiatives. Restructuring 
expenses consist of employee severance costs, contract termination costs and certain other exit costs to improve our cost structure prospectively. For 
additional information regarding our restructuring plans, see Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report and Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 
2025.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Restructuring expenses  $ 402    448%  439%  $ 73 

Restructuring expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 primarily related to the 2026 Restructuring Plan. Restructuring expenses in the first quarter of fiscal 
2025 primarily related to the 2024 Restructuring Plan, which is substantially complete. Our management approved, committed to and initiated the 2026 
Restructuring Plan and the 2024 Restructuring Plan in order to restructure and further improve efficiencies in our operations. We may incur additional 
restructuring expenses in future periods due to the initiation of new restructuring plans or from changes in estimated costs associated with existing 
restructuring plans.

The majority of the initiatives undertaken by the 2026 Restructuring Plan were effected to implement our continued emphasis in developing, marketing, 
selling and delivering our cloud-based offerings. Certain of the cost savings realized pursuant to the 2026 Restructuring Plan initiatives were offset by 
investments in resources and geographies that we believe better address the development, marketing, sale and delivery of our cloud-based offerings, 
including investments in the development and delivery of our second-generation cloud infrastructure.

Interest Expense:
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Interest expense   $ 923    10%  10%  $ 842 
 

Interest expense increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, primarily due to higher average borrowings resulting 
from our issuance of $14.0 billion of senior notes in fiscal 2025, partially offset by lower interest expense due to scheduled repayments of debt made during 
the first quarter of fiscal 2026 and full year of fiscal 2025.
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Non-Operating Income, net:   Non-operating income, net consists primarily of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses, the noncontrolling 
interests in the net profits of our majority-owned subsidiaries (primarily Oracle Financial Services Software Limited and Oracle Corporation Japan), net losses 
related to marketable and non-marketable investments, including losses attributable to equity method investments (primarily Ampere) and net other income 
and expenses, including net gains and losses from our investment portfolio related to our deferred compensation plan, for which an equal and offsetting 
amount was recorded to our operating expenses during the same period, and non-service net periodic pension income and losses.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Interest income   $ 103    -23%  -23%  $ 133 
Foreign currency losses, net     (31)   -38%  -42%    (50)
Noncontrolling interests in income     (47)   9%  9%    (43)
Losses from marketable and non-marketable investments, net     (52)   -24%  -24%    (69)
Other income, net     100    102%  102%    49 

Total non-operating income, net   $ 73    250%  286%  $ 20 
 

Our non-operating income, net increased by $53 million in reported currency in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, 
primarily due to a $43 million increase in gains from our investment portfolio related to our deferred compensation plan included in other income, net, a $19 
million decrease in foreign currency losses and a $17 million decrease in losses from marketable and non-marketable investments, partially offset by a $30 
million decrease in interest income.

Provision for Income Taxes:   Our effective income tax rates for each of the periods presented were the result of the mix of income earned and losses incurred 
in various tax jurisdictions that apply a broad range of income tax rates. Refer to Note 7 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report for a discussion regarding the differences between the effective income tax rates as presented for the periods below and 
the U.S. federal statutory income tax rates that were in effect during these periods. Future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by an unfavorable 
shift of earnings weighted to jurisdictions with higher tax rates, by unfavorable changes in tax laws and regulations, by adverse rulings in tax-related litigation, 
or by shortfalls in stock-based compensation realized by employees relative to stock-based compensation that was recorded for book purposes, among 
others.
 
    Three Months Ended August 31,  

          Percent Change      
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Actual   Constant   2024  

Provision for income taxes   $ 500    108%  101%  $ 240 
Effective tax rate   14.6%           7.6%  

Provision for income taxes increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, primarily related to an unfavorable impact 
from the enactment of the U.S. One, Big, Beautiful Bill Act, which was signed into law on July 4, 2025, that required a remeasurement of a deferred tax liability 
previously recorded during fiscal 2021 as part of the partial realignment of our legal entity structure of $958 million and the absence of unrecognized tax 
benefits due to settlements with tax authorities and other events of $99 million, partially offset by an increase in tax benefits related to stock-based 
compensation of $853 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

(Dollars in millions)  
August 31,

2025     Change  
May 31,

2025  

Working capital   $ (15,240)   89%  $ (8,064)
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities   $ 11,005    -2%  $ 11,203 
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Working capital:   The decrease in working capital as of August 31, 2025 in comparison to May 31, 2025 was primarily due to $8.5 billion of cash used for 
capital expenditures; $3.1 billion of long-term borrowings that were reclassified to current liabilities; $1.4 billion of cash used to pay dividends to our 
stockholders; $97 million of cash used for purchases of non-current investments; and $95 million of cash used for repurchases of our common stock, partially 
offset by favorable impacts from net income; and $1.2 billion of net cash proceeds from our employee stock programs, in each case during the first quarter of 
fiscal 2026. Our working capital may be impacted by some or all of the aforementioned factors in future periods, the amounts and timing of which are 
variable.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities:   Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of deposits held at major banks, money market funds and 
other securities with original maturities of 90 days or less. Marketable securities consist primarily of time deposits with original maturities at the time of 
purchase greater than 90 days. The decrease in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of August 31, 2025 in comparison to May 31, 2025 was 
primarily due to $8.5 billion of cash used for capital expenditures; $1.4 billion of cash used to pay dividends to our stockholders; $1.1 billion of cash used for 
scheduled repayments of debt; $238 million of cash used for repayment of commercial paper notes, net of issuances; $97 million of cash used for purchases 
of investments; and $95 million of cash used for repurchases of our common stock, partially offset by $8.1 billion of cash inflows from our operations; $1.9 
billion of cash inflows from other financing activities, net; and $1.2 billion of net cash provided by our employee stock programs, in each case during the first 
quarter of fiscal 2026. Our cash and cash equivalents may be impacted by some or all of the aforementioned factors in future periods, the amounts and timing 
of which are variable.

    Three Months Ended August 31,  
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Change   2024  

Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 8,140    10%  $ 7,427 
Net cash used for investing activities   $ (8,718)   215%  $ (2,765)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities   $ 210    *  $ (4,585)
 

* Not meaningful

Cash flows from operating activities:   Our largest source of operating cash flows is cash collections from our customers following the purchase and renewal 
of their cloud and software support agreements. Customers for these agreements are generally billed in advance of services being provided. Over the course 
of a fiscal year, we also generate cash from the sales of software licenses, hardware offerings and other services. Our primary uses of cash from operating 
activities are typically for employee-related expenditures, material and manufacturing costs related to the production of our hardware products, taxes, 
interest payments and leased facilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $713 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, primarily due to 
higher net income adjusted for certain non-cash charges, partially offset by lower cash favorable working capital changes, net.

Cash flows from investing activities:   The changes in cash flows from investing activities primarily relate to our investments in capital assets primarily to 
support the growth in our cloud and software business and acquisitions, purchases, maturities and sales of our investments in marketable securities and other 
instruments.

Net cash used for investing activities increased by $6.0 billion in the first quarter of fiscal 2026, relative to the first quarter of fiscal 2025, primarily due to the 
increase in capital expenditures.

Cash flows from financing activities:   The changes in cash flows from financing activities primarily relate to borrowings and repayments related to our debt 
instruments, stock repurchases, dividend payments and net proceeds related to employee stock programs.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $210 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2026 relative to the net cash used for financing activities of $4.6 billion in 
the first quarter of fiscal 2025. The increase in net cash provided by financing activities was primarily due to higher net cash provided by other financing 
activities of $2.1 billion; higher net cash proceeds from our employee stock programs of $1.8 billion; lower scheduled repayments of debt of $948 million; and 
lower repayments of commercial paper, net of issuances, of $158 million. These increases were partially offset by higher dividend payments of $310 million. 
Further, during the first quarter of fiscal 2025, we refinanced our term loan credit agreement that we entered into in fiscal 2023, which resulted in no net 
impact on financing cash flows for the period reported.
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Free cash flow:   To supplement our statements of cash flows presented on a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measures of cash flows on a trailing four-quarter 
basis to analyze cash flows generated from our operations. We believe that free cash flow is also useful as one of the bases for comparing our performance 
with that of our competitors. The presentation of non-GAAP free cash flow is not meant to be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net income as an 
indicator of our performance, or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. We calculate free cash flow as follows:
 
    Trailing Four-Quarters Ended August 31,  
(Dollars in millions)   2025     Change   2024  

Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 21,534    13%  $ 19,126 
Capital expenditures     (27,414)   249%    (7,855)
Free cash flow   $ (5,880)   *  $ 11,271 
Net income   $ 12,441       $ 10,976 
Net cash provided by operating activities as a percent of net income   173%       174%  
Free cash flow as percent of net income   -47%       103%  
 

* Not meaningful

Contractual Obligations:   During the first quarter of fiscal 2026, there were no significant changes to our estimates of future payments under our fixed 
contractual obligations and commitments as presented in Part II, Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025, other than an increase in our lease commitments as of August 
31, 2025, substantially all for data centers. Additionally, subsequent to August 31, 2025, we entered into lease commitments for data centers. Refer to Note 5 
of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 for more information about our lease commitments.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balances, cash generated from operations and our borrowing arrangements will 
be sufficient to meet our working capital, capital expenditures and contractual obligations requirements. In addition, we believe that we could fund our future 
acquisitions, dividend payments and repurchases of common stock or debt with our internally available cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, cash 
generated from operations, additional borrowings or from the issuance of additional securities.

Remaining Performance Obligations from Contracts with Customers

Remaining performance obligations were $455.3 billion and $99.1 billion as of August 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The increase in remaining performance 
obligations as of August 31, 2025 in comparison to August 31, 2024 was primarily attributable to certain significant cloud contracts that were entered into 
during the period. For more information about our remaining performance obligations, see Note 1 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.
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Stock-Based Awards

Our stock-based compensation program is a key component of the compensation package we provide to attract and retain certain of our talented employees 
and align their interests with the interests of existing stockholders.

We recognize that stock-based awards dilute existing stockholders and have sought to control the number of stock-based awards granted while providing 
competitive compensation packages. Consistent with these dual goals, our cumulative potential dilution since June 1, 2022 has been an annualized rate of 
1.6% per year. The potential dilution percentage is calculated as the average annualized new stock-based awards granted and assumed, net of stock-based 
awards forfeited by employees leaving the company, divided by the weighted-average outstanding shares during the calculation period. This maximum 
potential dilution will only result if all stock-based awards vest and, if applicable, are exercised. Of the outstanding stock options as of August 31, 2025, which 
generally have a ten-year exercise period, substantially all have exercise prices lower than the market price of our common stock on such date. In recent 
years, our stock repurchase program has partially offset the dilutive effect of our stock-based compensation program. However, we may modify the levels of 
our stock repurchases in the future depending on a number of factors, including the amount of cash we have available for acquisitions, to pay dividends, to 
repay or repurchase indebtedness or for other purposes. As of August 31, 2025, the maximum potential dilution from all outstanding stock-based awards, 
regardless of when granted and regardless of whether vested or unvested, was 4.0%.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accounting pronouncements, and the impact of these pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements, see 
Note 1 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitatve Disclosures About Market Risk

There were no significant changes to our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk during the first quarter of fiscal 2026. Please refer to Part 
II, Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025 for a 
more complete discussion of the market risks we encounter.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures:   Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our Principal Executive and Financial 
Officer), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, our Principal Executive and Financial Officer has concluded that our “disclosure controls 
and procedures” (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information 
required to be disclosed by us in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time 
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management (including our Principal Executive and Financial 
Officer) as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting:   There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the 
evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls:   Our management, including our Principal Executive and Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure 
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are 
effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control 
over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource 
constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of 
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the 
realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be 
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any 
system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there can be no assurance that any design will 
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 7 (pertaining to information regarding contingencies related to our income taxes) and Note 10 (pertaining to information 
regarding legal contingencies) of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report is incorporated herein by 
reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A Risk Factors in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2025. The risks discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K could materially affect our 
business, financial condition and future results. The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be insignificant also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition 
or operating results in the future.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Our Board of Directors has approved a program for us to repurchase shares of our common stock. As of August 31, 2025, approximately $6.3 billion remained 
available for stock repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activity will depend on factors such as our working 
capital needs, our cash requirements for acquisitions and dividend payments, our debt repayment obligations or repurchases of our debt, our stock price and 
economic and market conditions. Our stock repurchases may be effected from time to time through open market purchases or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 
trading plan. Our stock repurchase program may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.

The following table summarizes the stock repurchase activity for the three months ended August 31, 2025 and the approximate dollar value of shares that 
may yet be purchased pursuant to our stock repurchase program:
 

(in millions, except per share amounts)  
Total Number of

Shares
Purchased    

Average Price
Paid per

Share    

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced

Program    

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased

Under the Program  
June 1, 2025—June 30, 2025     0.2    $ 193.51      0.2    $ 6,314.7 
July 1, 2025—July 31, 2025     0.2    $ 236.48      0.2    $ 6,269.5 
August 1, 2025—August 31, 2025     —    $ —      —    $ 6,269.5 

Total     0.4    $ 212.30      0.4       
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Item 5. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

Our Section 16 officers and directors (as defined in Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act) may from time to time enter into plans for the purchase or sale of 
Oracle stock that are intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. During the quarter ended August 31, 
2025, the following Section 16 officer adopted, modified or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K under 
Exchange Act):

• Stuart Levey, our Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer, adopted a new trading plan on July 10, 2025. Mr. Levey’s plan is scheduled to 
terminate on April 10, 2026, subject to early termination for certain specified events set forth in the plan. The trading plan is intended to permit 
Mr. Levey to sell up to 13,615 vested shares and up to 25% of restricted stock units scheduled to vest on future dates (approximately 11,805 gross 
shares) net of taxes, subject to certain limit prices set forth in the plan.

The Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement described above was adopted and precleared in accordance with Oracle’s Insider Trading Policy and actual sale 
transactions made pursuant to such trading arrangement will be disclosed publicly in future Section 16 filings with the SEC.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 

Exhibit
No.

      Incorporated by Reference
  Exhibit Description   Form   File No.   Exhibit   Filing Date   Filed By

                         

3.01   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Oracle 
Corporation and Certificate of Amendment of Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Oracle Corporation

  8-K 12G3   000-51788   3.1   2/6/06   Oracle Corporation

                         

3.02   Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle Corporation   8-K   001-35992   3.02   11/17/23   Oracle Corporation
                         

10.17*‡   Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and 
Restated 2020 Equity Incentive Plan for U.S. Employees

                   

                         

31.01‡   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive 
and Financial Officer

                   

                         

32.01†   Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive and Financial 
Officer

                   

                   

101‡   Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, 
formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance 
Sheets as of August 31, 2025 and May 31, 2025, (ii) Condensed 
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months 
ended August 31, 2025 and 2024, (iii) Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three months 
ended August 31, 2025 and 2024, (iv) Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the three months ended 
August 31, 2025 and 2024, (v) Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended August 
31, 2025 and 2024 and (vi) Notes to Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements

                   

                         

104‡   The cover page from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2025, formatted in Inline 
XBRL and included in Exhibit 101

                   

                         
 

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

‡ Filed herewith.

† Furnished herewith.
 

https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-06-020874.html?hash=2e2925715ca5da3517a96db2722a77cf8346dfbdf0ca94c53ba4925afbea6ae1&dest=dex31_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-06-020874.html?hash=2e2925715ca5da3517a96db2722a77cf8346dfbdf0ca94c53ba4925afbea6ae1&dest=dex31_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-06-020874.html?hash=2e2925715ca5da3517a96db2722a77cf8346dfbdf0ca94c53ba4925afbea6ae1&dest=dex31_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-23-279837.html?hash=85bf396934298c13d13a81299813036d43c6a8231c095adb50306c6b3ff04579&dest=d606391dex302_htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Oracle Corporation has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
  ORACLE CORPORATION
     
Date: September 10, 2025  By:  /s/  Safra A. Catz

 
 

 

 

Safra A. Catz
Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

      
Date: September 10, 2025  By:  /s/  Maria Smith
      Maria Smith

 
 

 
 

Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.17
 

ORACLE CORPORATION
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 
2020 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

 
U.S. NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES
 

Granted To: <Optionee Name> 
Number of Options: <Options Granted>
Grant Date: <Grant Date>
Vesting Schedule: 25% per year over 4 years, beginning 1 year from: <Grant Date>
Exercise Price: <Exercise Price>
Expiration Date: <Expiration Date> [Expiration date will be 10 years from grant date]
 
Accept by Date: 7 Months from <Grant Date>

 

1. Grant.  Oracle Corporation (the “Company”) has granted to the optionee named above (“Optionee”) a U.S. non-qualified option (the “Option”) to 
purchase the total number of shares of Common Stock set forth above (the “Shares”).  The Shares may be purchased at the exercise price per share 
set forth above (the “Exercise Price”).  This Option is subject to the terms set forth below in this stock option agreement (the “Award Agreement”), 
the Company’s Amended and Restated 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and the Oracle Corporation Equity Award Transfer and Leave Policy 
(the “Policy”).  In the event of a conflict between the terms of the Plan and the terms of this Award Agreement, the terms of the Plan shall govern.  
All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.

2. Restrictions on Exercise.  Subject to the terms of the Plan, this Award Agreement and the Policy, the Option shall vest in accordance with the 
Vesting Schedule set forth above, subject to Optionee’s continuous employment with the Company or an Affiliate (the “Employer”) through the 
applicable vesting date, and may be exercised once vested, provided that in no event may the Option be exercised after the Expiration Date noted 
above. 

3. Termination of Service.

a) In the event of the termination of Optionee’s employment relationship with the Employer (excluding a transfer to the Company or any 
Affiliate), for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where 
Optionee is employed or the terms of Optionee’s employment agreement, if any, and other than due to Optionee’s death, this Option shall 
cease vesting, and any portion of the Option that has not vested shall immediately terminate.  Optionee’s employment relationship shall be 
considered to have terminated (without regard to any notice period, e.g., a period of “garden leave” or similar period pursuant to local law 
or as may be required by the terms of an employment agreement) and Optionee to have ceased to be employed by the Company or its 
Affiliate, on the earliest of:

(1) the date on which the Employer delivers to Optionee notice terminating the employment relationship (regardless of whether 
the notice or termination is lawful or unlawful or is in breach of any contract of employment) unless Optionee is transferring 
employment to the Company or any Affiliate; 
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(2) the date on which Optionee delivers notice to his or her Employer that Optionee is terminating the employment relationship 
(regardless of whether the notice or termination is lawful or unlawful or is in breach of any contract of employment) unless 
Optionee is transferring employment to the Company or any Affiliate;

(3) the date on which Optionee ceases to provide services to the Employer, except where Optionee is on an authorized leave of 
absence; or  

(4) the date on which Optionee ceases to be considered an “employee” under applicable laws (such termination, a "Termination" 
and such termination date, the "Termination Date," in each case as further defined in the Plan).  

b) In the event of Optionee’s Termination with the Employer, for any reason except death or Disability, this Option may be exercised to the 
extent (and only to the extent) that it would have been exercisable as of the Termination Date, within three (3) months after the 
Termination Date, but in any event no later than the Expiration Date.  The Termination Date for purposes of this Award Agreement and any 
right to exercise this Option post-termination shall not be extended by any notice period mandated under local law, by contract or 
otherwise and shall be determined in accordance with Section 3(a) herein.  

c) In the event of Optionee’s Termination with the Employer, due to Optionee’s Disability, this Option may be exercised to the extent (and only 
to the extent) specified in the Plan.

d) In the event of Optionee’s Termination with the Employer due to Optionee’s death, this Option shall vest (if at all) with respect to the same 
number of Shares underlying the Option as would have vested had Optionee remained employed by the Employer through the first vesting 
date (pursuant to the Vesting Schedule) that next follows Optionee’s death, but the Option shall be forfeited with respect to all other Shares 
underlying the unvested portion of the Option. Upon Optionee’s death (or Optionee’s death within three (3) months of the Termination 
Date), the vested portion of the Option may be exercised by Optionee’s legal representative within twelve (12) months after Optionee’s 
death, but in any event, no later than the Expiration Date, provided that such person provides proof, to the Company’s satisfaction, of his or 
her entitlement to act on behalf of Optionee’s estate. 

The committee of the Board of Directors of the Company administering the Plan (the “Committee”) shall have discretion to determine whether 
Optionee has experienced a Termination, and the Termination Date.

In addition, subject to applicable laws, the Committee in its sole discretion may suspend vesting of the Award if Optionee takes a leave of absence 
from employment with the Company or any Affiliate.

4. Manner of Exercise; Automatic Exercise; Consideration.  

a) The Option may be exercised by delivery to the Company of the stock option exercise agreements in the form then approved by the 
Committee, stating the number of Shares being purchased, the restrictions imposed on the Shares, if any, and such representations and 
agreements, as may be required by the Company to comply with applicable laws, together with payment in a form allowed under the Plan.  
The current forms of stock option exercise form and stock option exercise notice and agreement (the “Exercise Agreement”) are available 
upon request by emailing stock_us@oracle.com.

b) The Company, at its discretion, may implement an automatic exercise feature pursuant to which the Option will be automatically exercised 
on the Expiration Date (or on the last Trading Day immediately prior to the Expiration Date if the Expiration Date is not a Trading Day) (the 
“Automatic Exercise Date”) if (i) Optionee has not exercised the Option prior to the Automatic Exercise Date, (ii) the Fair 
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Market Value of a Share on the Automatic Exercise Date exceeds the Exercise Price per Share by an amount equal to or more than the value 
of one Share on the Automatic Exercise Date, and (iii) Optionee has not specified in writing that Optionee does not want to exercise the 
Option.  If the Company elects to implement this automatic exercise feature, it shall do so according to such procedures as the Company 
shall specify from time to time; provided, however, that the Company shall not apply the automatic exercise to the Option in circumstances 
where the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that it is not feasible or advisable due to legal or administrative reasons.  Therefore, 
Optionee should not rely on this feature. 

c) Due to administrative restrictions, paying the Exercise Price by means of the surrender of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the 
applicable Exercise Price of the Option is not an available method of paying the exercise price under this Award Agreement.

5. No Stockholder Rights.  Optionee shall have no rights as a stockholder of the Company unless and until the Option has been exercised and Shares 
have been issued to Optionee.  The Shares underlying Options do not carry voting rights or rights to cash dividends. No adjustments will be made 
for dividends or other rights of a stockholder for which the record date is prior to the date of issuance of the stock certificate or book entry 
evidencing such Shares. 

6. Compliance with Laws and Regulations.  The Option and the issuance and transfer of Shares thereunder shall be subject to compliance by the 
Company and Optionee with all applicable requirements of federal, state, local or non-U.S. securities, exchange control and other laws and with all 
applicable requirements of any stock exchange or national market system on which the Common Stock may be listed at the time of such issuance or 
transfer.

7. Transferability of Option.  This Option may not be transferred in any manner other than (i) by will, (ii) by the laws of descent and distribution or (c) if 
applicable, by proof to the Company’s satisfaction, in the event of Optionee’s death, that the beneficiary is entitled to receive the Option; provided 
however, that a U.S. Optionee may transfer a vested portion of the Option for no consideration to or for the benefit of one or more members of 
Optionee’s Immediate Family (including, without limitation, to a trust for the benefit of Optionee’s Immediate Family) (a “Transferee”), subject to 
such limits as the Committee may establish, and such Transferee shall remain subject to all the terms and conditions applicable to the Option prior 
to such transfer.  Optionee will continue to be treated as the holder of the Option for purposes of the Company’s record keeping and for other 
purposes deemed appropriate by the Company, including the right to consent to amendments to this Award Agreement, notwithstanding that the 
economic benefits and dispositive control have been transferred to the Transferee.  Optionee agrees, on behalf of each Transferee, to exercise the 
Option upon the direction and arrangement of payment by such Transferee and further agrees to forward all information provided by the Company 
(including but not limited to those required under the U.S. securities laws) with respect to the Option to the Transferee.  In the discretion of the 
Committee, the foregoing right to transfer shall apply to the right to transfer ancillary rights associated with the Option. The term “Immediate 
Family” shall mean Optionee’s spouse, qualified same-sex domestic partner, parents, children, stepchildren, adoptive relationships, sisters, brothers 
and grandchildren (and, for this purpose, shall also include Optionee).  Optionee acknowledges that Optionee will continue to be liable for any Tax-
Related Items (as defined in Section 9 below).

8. Tax Consequences.  The general U.S. federal income tax consequences of the grant, vesting, exercise and transfer of the Option, as well as upon 
disposition of the Shares following exercise, are set forth in the Plan prospectus made available at the Company’s web site at:

https://mysites.oracle.com/global-stock-services/.

If Optionee is subject to tax in any other country besides the U.S., the tax treatment in the other country may differ from that reflected in the Plan 
prospectus. A description of the tax consequences related to the 
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Option in applicable jurisdictions outside the U.S. is set forth in the applicable Country Specific Tax Information Supplements made available at the 
Company’s website referenced above.

9. Responsibility for Taxes.  Optionee acknowledges that, regardless of any action taken by the Company or the Employer, the ultimate liability for all 
income tax (including U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax), social insurance, payroll tax, fringe benefits tax, payment on account or other tax-
related items related to Optionee’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to Optionee or deemed by the Company or the Employer in its 
discretion to be an appropriate charge to Optionee even if legally applicable to the Company or the Employer (“Tax-Related Items”), is and remains 
Optionee’s responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company and/or the Employer.  Optionee further acknowledges that 
the Company and/or the Employer (a) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection 
with any aspect of the Option, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or exercise of the Option, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired 
pursuant to such exercise and the receipt of any dividends; and (b) do not commit to and are under no obligation to structure the terms of the 
grant or any aspect of the Option to reduce or eliminate Optionee’s liability for Tax-Related Items or to achieve any particular tax result.  Further, if 
Optionee is subject to Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction, Optionee acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former 
employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction.

Prior to any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Optionee agrees to make adequate arrangements satisfactory to the Company 
and/or the Employer to satisfy all Tax-Related Items.  In this regard, if Optionee is not an Insider, Optionee authorizes the Company and/or the 
Employer, or their respective agents, at their discretion, to satisfy the obligations or rights with regard to all Tax-Related Items, if any, by 
withholding from proceeds of the sale of Shares acquired upon exercise of the Option, either through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory sale 
arranged by the Company (on Optionee’s behalf pursuant to this authorization without further consent).  Alternatively, the Company and/or 
Employer, or their respective agents, in their sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as they may specify from time to time, may satisfy 
their withholding obligations or rights with regard to all Tax-Related Items, if any, by one or a combination of the following: 

(i) withholding from Optionee’s wages or other cash compensation paid to Optionee by the Company and/or Employer; 

(ii) withholding in Shares subject to the exercised Option; or 

(iii) any other method determined by the Company and permitted under applicable law.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Optionee is an Insider, the Company will satisfy the obligations with regard to all Tax-Related Items by 
withholding Shares otherwise issuable upon exercise of the Option, unless the use of such withholding method is prevented by applicable laws or 
has adverse tax or accounting consequences, in which case Optionee may: (A) elect to have the Company or Employer withhold from Optionee’s 
wages or other cash compensation paid to Optionee by the Company and/or the Employer; or (B) elect to have the Company withhold from 
proceeds of the sale of Shares acquired upon exercise of the Option, either through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory sale arranged by the 
Company (on Optionee’s behalf pursuant to this authorization).

The Company may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by considering statutory withholding amounts or other withholding rates, including 
up to the maximum rate applicable in Optionee’s jurisdiction(s). If the application of the withholding rate leads to over-withholding, Optionee may 
receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash from the Company or the Employer and will have no entitlement to the equivalent amount in 
Shares or, if not refunded, Optionee may be able to seek a refund from the local tax authorities. If the application of the withholding rate leads to 
under-withholding, Optionee may be required to pay any additional Tax-Related Items directly to the applicable tax authority or to the Company 
and/or Employer.  
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Further, if the obligation for the Tax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding in Shares, for tax purposes, Optionee will be deemed to have been 
issued the full number of Shares subject to the exercised Option, notwithstanding that a number of the Shares are held back solely for the purpose 
of paying the Tax-Related Items due as a result of any aspect of Optionee’s participation in the Plan.  

Finally, Optionee shall pay to the Company or the Employer any amount of Tax-Related Items that the Company or the Employer may be required 
to withhold or account for as a result of Optionee’s participation in the Plan that cannot be satisfied by the means previously described.  The 
Company may refuse to honor the exercise and refuse to deliver the Shares or the proceeds from the sale of Shares if Optionee fails to comply with 
Optionee’s obligations in connection with the Tax-Related Items as described in this section.

10. Nature of the Grant.  By entering into this Award Agreement and accepting the grant of an Option evidenced hereby, Optionee acknowledges that: 

a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, amended, suspended or terminated 
by the Company at any time unless otherwise provided in the Plan and this Award Agreement; 

b) the Plan is operated, and the Options are granted, solely by the Company, and only the Company is a party to this Award Agreement; 
accordingly, any rights Optionee may have under this Award Agreement may be raised only against the Company but not any Affiliate 
(including, but not limited to, the Employer);

c) no Affiliate (including, but not limited to, the Employer) has any obligation to make any payment of any kind to Optionee under this Award 
Agreement;

d) the grant of the Option is exceptional, voluntary, and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive future grants 
of options, or benefits in lieu of options, even if options have been granted in the past; 

e) all decisions with respect to future grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company; 

f) Optionee’s participation in the Plan shall not create a right to further employment with the Employer;

g) Optionee’s participation in the Plan shall not be interpreted as forming or amending an employment or service contract with the Company 
or the Employer, and shall not interfere with the ability of the Employer to terminate Optionee’s employment relationship at any time;   

h) Optionee’s participation in the Plan is voluntary; 

i) the Option and the Shares subject to the Option, and the income from and value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation 
or salary for any purpose including, but not limited to, calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end of 
service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or welfare or retirement benefits (including the 401(k) Savings and Investment 
Plan and the Deferred Compensation Plan) or similar payments and in no event should be considered as compensation for, or relating in any 
way to, past services for the Company or any Affiliate;

j) the Option and the Shares subject to the Option, and the income from and value of same, are not intended to replace any pension rights or 
compensation; 

k) the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with certainty, and if Optionee exercises the 
Option and obtains Shares, the value of those Shares may 
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increase or decrease, even below the Exercise Price; 

l) if the underlying Shares do not increase in value, the Option will have no value; 

m) the vesting of any Option ceases upon Termination of the employment relationship as described in Section 3 of this Award Agreement, 
except as may otherwise be explicitly provided in the Plan; 

n) unless otherwise agreed with the Company, this Option and the Shares subject to this Option, and the income from and value of same, are 
not granted as consideration for, or in connection with, any service Optionee may provide as a director of any Affiliate;

o) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Option resulting from the Termination of Optionee’s 
employment (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where 
Optionee is employed or the terms of Optionee’s employment agreement, if any) or from the application of any clawback or recoupment 
policy adopted by the Company or imposed by applicable law; and 

p) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the Option and the benefits evidenced by this Award Agreement 
do not create any entitlement to have the Option or any such benefits transferred to, or assumed by, another company nor to be 
exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares.

11. No Advice Regarding Grant.  The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations 
regarding Optionee’s participation in the Plan, or Optionee’s acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares.  Optionee is hereby advised to consult 
with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the 
Plan.

12. Data Privacy Notice.  In order to administer Optionee’s participation in the Plan and for the performance of this Award Agreement, the Employer, 
the Company and any Affiliate may process Optionee’s Personal Information (as defined below).

Personal information of an Optionee may include Optionee’s name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social security number or 
other identification number, salary, nationality, passport number, job title, any Shares or directorships held in the Company, details of all 
options, restricted stock units or any other entitlement to Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Optionee’s 
favor (“Personal Information”).

Personal Information will be shared with the Company’s stock plan service provider, Fidelity, or such other stock plan service provider or broker 
as may be selected by the Company in the future, which is assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of 
the Plan.  Personal Information will be held during the term of this Award Agreement and as further specified in the Oracle Records Retention 
Policy.  Personal Information is required by the Company to enter into and perform the Award Agreement and to administer the Plan, and the 
Company would not be able to grant Optionee options, restricted stock units or other equity awards or administer or maintain such awards if 
Personal Information is not provided by Optionee.

Optionee is referred to Oracle’s Internal Privacy Policy, available at: 

https://oracle.sharepoint.com/sites/global-legal/SitePages/Legal-Policies.aspx and to Fidelity’s Privacy Policy, available at 
https://www.fidelity.com/privacy-policy, for additional details on the processing of its Personal Information.
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13. Entire Agreement.  The Plan made available at the Company’s web site at https://mysites.oracle.com/global-stock-services/is incorporated herein 
by reference.  This Award Agreement and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the parties and supersede all prior undertakings and 
agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof.  The Committee may amend this Award Agreement and the Plan from time to time.  
Optionee understands and agrees that the terms of the Option can only be amended in writing.  Optionee agrees that the terms of the Plan govern 
the Option and that all interpretations and determinations made by the Company or the Committee with respect to the Plan and this Award 
Agreement shall be final and binding on all persons. 

14. Governing Law and Venue.  The Option and the provisions of this Award Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Delaware in the United States, without regard to such state’s conflict of laws rules. Unless Optionee is subject to a mutual 
agreement to arbitrate with the Company, Optionee agrees to institute any legal action or legal proceeding relating to this Award Agreement or the 
Plan in state court in San Mateo County, California or in federal court in San Francisco, California, United States of America, and no other courts, 
where this grant is made and/or to be performed.  Optionee agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of and agrees that venue is proper in the aforesaid 
courts in any such action or proceeding and waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection that the laying of venue of any legal or 
equitable proceedings related to, concerning or arising from such dispute which is brought in any such court is improper or that such proceedings 
have been brought in an inconvenient forum.

15. Electronic Delivery and Participation.  The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to current or future 
participation in the Plan by electronic means or to request Optionee’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means.  Optionee hereby 
consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an online or electronic system established 
and maintained by the Company or any third party designated by the Company.

16. Severability.  The provisions of this Award Agreement are severable and if any one or more provisions are determined to be illegal or otherwise 
unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless be binding and enforceable.

17. Recoupment.  As an additional condition of receiving this Option, Optionee agrees that this Option and any benefits or proceeds therefrom that 
Optionee may receive hereunder shall be subject to forfeiture and/or repayment to the Company to the extent required (i) to comply with any 
requirements imposed under applicable laws and/or the rules and regulations of the securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which 
the Shares are listed or quoted, including, without limitation, pursuant to Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Rule 10D-1 thereunder, and Section 
303A.14 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual as may be reflected in a recoupment or “clawback” policy adopted by the 
Company, as may be amended from time to time, or otherwise, and (ii) under the terms of any policy adopted by the Company, as may be 
amended from time, to facilitate the Company’s objectives related to eliminating or reducing fraud, misconduct, wrongdoing, or violations of law by 
an employee or other service provider or related to improving the Company’s governance practices or similar considerations (and the provisions 
contained in a policy contemplated under sub-clause (i) and (ii) shall be deemed incorporated into this Award Agreement without Optionee's 
additional or separate consent).  Further, if Optionee receives any amount in excess of what Optionee should have received under the terms of this 
Option for any reason (including without limitation by reason of a financial restatement, mistake in calculations or administrative error), all as 
determined by the Committee, then Optionee shall be required to promptly repay any such excess amount to the Company.  In addition, if at any 
time after the vesting of the Option, the Committee determines that Optionee committed any act or omission that would constitute Cause while 
Optionee was employed by the Company or an Affiliate, the Company may require Optionee to repay to the Company all amounts received under 
this Award Agreement.

 
18. Country-Specific Provisions.  If Optionee relocates to a non-U.S. country or territory, special terms for such 
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new country will apply to him or her, to the extent the Company determines that the application of such terms is necessary or advisable for legal or 
administrative reasons.  As a result, Optionee should review the specific terms/notifications that apply to him or her in his or her particular country 
to which he/she transfers.  These country specific alerts/notifications are available at the Company’s web site at:
https://mysites.oracle.com/global-stock-services/.

19. Imposition of Other Requirements.  The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on Optionee’s participation in the Plan, to the 
extent the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require Optionee to sign any additional 
agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing. 

20. Waiver.  Optionee acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Award Agreement shall not operate or be 
construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Award Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by Optionee or any other Participant.

21. Acceptance.  By clicking on the “Accept” button, Optionee accepts the Option and agrees to be bound by its terms as set forth in the Plan and this 
Award Agreement.  If Optionee does not acknowledge acceptance of the Option within seven (7) months of the Grant Date, the Option will be 
cancelled.

These terms apply to grants made on or after July 31, 2025.



 

 

Exhibit 31.01 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE AND FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Oracle Corporation; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the Finance and Audit 
Committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

 
Date: September 10, 2025 By:   /s/  Safra A. Catz
      Safra A. Catz

     
Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

      
 



 

 

Exhibit 32.01 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE AND FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Oracle Corporation for the purpose of complying 
with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code. 

Safra A. Catz, the Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive and Financial Officer) of Oracle Corporation, certifies that, to the best of her knowledge: 

1. the quarterly report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the quarterly report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Oracle 
Corporation.

 
Date: September 10, 2025 By:   /s/  Safra A. Catz
      Safra A. Catz 

     
Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

 
The foregoing certification is being furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. It is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended, and it is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Oracle Corporation, regardless of any general incorporation language in 
such filing.


